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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
(Dollars in millions, except per share results)
For the years ended December 31,

199 9 (a)

1 998 ( b)

O P E R AT I NG RESU LT S

Revenues
Income before income taxes
Net income
Earnings per common share — assuming dilution

Humana Inc.,
$ 10,113
181
117
.69

$ 9,781
335
213
1.27

headquartered in Louisville,
Ky., is one of the nation’s
largest publicly traded
health services companies
with approximately 5.9

F INA NCIA L POS ITI ON

Cash and investments
Total assets
Stockholders’ equity

$ 2,738
4,900
1,268

$ 2,812
5,496
1,688

million medical members
located primarily in 15
states and Puerto Rico.
Humana offers coordinated

OT HER DATA

Shares outstanding
Medical membership
Number of employees
Number of stockholders of record

167,514,710
5,939,200
17,300
7,800

167,515,362
6,195,800
16,300
8,700

health care coverage
through a variety of plans —
health maintenance
organizations, preferred
provider organizations,

( a ) Excludes expenses of $585 million pretax ($499 million after tax, or $2.97 per diluted share) primarily related to goodwill write-down, losses on non-core asset sales,
p rofessional liability re s e rve strengthening, premium deficiency and medical re s e r ve stre n g t h e n i n g .
( b ) Excludes expenses of $132 million pretax ($84 million after tax, or $.50 per diluted share) primarily related to the costs of certain market exits and product
discontinuances, asset write-offs, premium deficiency and a one-time non-officer employee incentive.

point-of-service plans, and
administrative services
products — to employer
groups, governmentsponsored plans and
individuals.
Humana's vision is to
become the most trusted
name in health solutions.

Our business is to
Michael B. McCallister
President and Chief Executive Officer
(left)
David A. Jones
Chairman of the Board
(right)

empower members to make choices about their health.

tackling” initiatives undertaken by leadership and supported
by a reborn energy and focus on the part of Humana’s
17,000 associates.

Care Financing Administration (HCFA) reimbursement rates,
and are helping to create a strong base from which we can
build our Medicare revenues in profitable markets in 2000.

Such positive trends accelerated further in the fourth quarter.
Highlights included:

For the year, Humana's adjusted medical expense ratio was
84.8 percent, compared to an adjusted medical expense
ratio of 83.0 percent for 1998. Our adjusted administrative
cost ratio declined by 30 basis points during the fiscal year
to 14.6 percent.

• Continued sequential improvement in adjusted
earnings before a non-cash charge, primarily for goodwill
write-offs and losses on sales of non-core assets;
• A 20-basis-point sequential improvement in the adjusted
medical expense ratio;
• Strong growth in key Medicare markets;
• $234 million adjusted cash flow from operations,
compared to $78 million in the third quarter; and
• Double-digit commercial premium yields for 2000.

To our shareholders:

“

Humana has demonstrated time and again its ability to
respond effectively to changing consumer needs. Becoming a truly
Internet-enabled, customer-centric health plan company is our
answer to what our members and physicians want.
— Michael B. McCallister, President and Chief Executive Officer

“

The past year was a difficult one for Humana and for our
investors. Our failure to align our pricing with cost trends in
1998 resulted in our playing “catch up” with inadequate
rates throughout the year. Our results for the second half of
1999 were encouraging, however, and set the stage for our
return to profitable growth in 2000.
Following the resignation of our chief executive officer
on August 3, 1999, the Board of Directors created the
Office of the Chairman, composed of chairman and interim
chief executive officer David A. Jones and senior vice
presidents Michael B. McCallister, James E. Murray and
Kenneth J. Fasola.
The Office of the Chairman immediately created an
organizational structure in which accountability for results
was paramount. Humana's senior leadership then developed
a new vision, purpose and value proposition for the company,
which is discussed in detail in the essay that follows this
letter. At the same time, the company began shoring up its
core business and disposing of its non-core assets, thereby
improving the balance sheet and freeing cash to pay down
debt and invest in Internet technology.
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The outcome of these efforts began to be evident in our
third-quarter results. Adjusted earnings (earnings excluding
any non-recurring items as detailed in the Financial Section of
this Annual Report) improved sequentially, the commercial
medical expense trend fell and Humana posted stronger
operating cash flow — the successful result of "blocking and

For the year, Humana reported adjusted net income of $117
million or $.69 per share excluding charges taken in the first
and fourth quarters of 1999, compared to adjusted net
income of $213 million or $1.27 per share in 1998 excluding
charges taken in the third quarter of 1998. Including firstand fourth-quarter charges, Humana reported a net loss of
$382 million or $2.28 per share in 1999.
Revenues were $10.1 billion, a 3.4 percent increase over
1998's $9.8 billion. Revenue growth in the fourth quarter and
fiscal year was primarily the result of commercial premium
yields, which escalated throughout the latter half of the year.

Following an intensive six-month search for a permanent
chief executive officer, the Board of Directors announced on
February 3, 2000, the appointment of Michael B. McCallister
as president and chief executive officer. Mr. McCallister's
senior management team includes, among others, the two
other former members of the Office of the Chairman:
Mr. Murray, chief operating officer of the Health Plan Division,
and Mr. Fasola, chief operating officer of the Small
Group Division.
With new leadership in place and improving pricing and cost
trends, we are optimistic about Humana's future. Health
insurance remains an unconsolidated industry. More than
1,000 health plans nationwide provide coverage to 150
million Americans, and the top nine publicly traded health
plans have only 30 percent of the managed care market.
Humana is well-positioned to renew its tradition of growth
by using its leverage in franchise markets, its strong brands
and its electronic enablement initiatives to increase market
share through same-store growth and small-scale,
targeted acquisitions.

The increasing commercial premium yield is the result of the
company pricing its products commensurate with cost trends,
and of the success of the sales force in introducing the higher
rates to customers. For the year, commercial membership
declined 177,900 or 5.5 percent, primarily due to attrition
among groups with high medical expense ratios faced with
substantial renewal rate increases.

In the essay, we outline how the company is poised to take
maximum advantage of the electronic business revolution,
leading to lower administrative costs and easier access to
information for our members, customers, physicians and
agents. As a sophisticated facilitator of access to quality
medical care, Humana will play an increasingly vital role in
empowering our members to take charge of their own
health. By so doing, we are committed to becoming the
most trusted name in health solutions.

During the second half of the year, strong sales in Humana’s
key Medicare markets offset early membership attrition in the
31 counties that the company announced it would exit on
January 1, 2000.

Sincerely,

We are pleased to report that January 2000 Medicare
membership continued to be strong, not only in the
company’s key markets, many of which saw the introduction
of member premiums, but also in other markets which also
accepted the member premium concept. Medicare member
premiums are an important new pricing paradigm in our
industry. They allow us to offset the effect of lower Health

David A. Jones
Chairman of the Board
and significant shareholder
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Michael B. McCallister
President and Chief Executive Officer
and significant shareholder

The Medicare product development team has dedicated itself to implementing
business-improvement initiatives the company established in late 1999. After a
departmental brainstorming meeting following the announcement of these initiatives,
the team came up with specific measures to advance Humana's agenda. For example, one
of the five initiatives — rationalize markets and products — is reflected in the team's
preparation and implementation of Medicare benefit change recommendations, reviewing
ancillary benefits and weighing new benefit and product designs.
For improving cost management, another of the five initiatives, the team
recommended prescription benefit changes to encourage drug compliance and better
integration of disease management programs. Shown in the photograph below are team
members Steve Russell, Susan Bramer, Ruby Brown, Jill Combs, Vatina Edwards, Michael
Lathon, Betsy McAtee, Amy Noble, Shaun Scully and Angela Lee Price.

Our premise is that

everyone answers to someone, and to do so is a privilege.

Accountability
Linda Moore
Customer Service
Jacksonville, FL

Theresa Ostert
Underwriting
Green Bay, WI

Adele Shepherd
Financial Recovery
Louisville, KY

Brent DeRossett
Finance
Kansas City, MO

Lynn Weber
Customer Service
Chicago, IL

Ken Fose
Web Technology
Louisville, KY

Laura Branker
Commercial Sales
Miami, FL

Why Humana?
At first blush, the answer may be
unclear. In fact, one might ask why
invest in any company in the managed care industry and be met with
the same response: why indeed?
After the decade of the 1990s —
during which, according to
Princeton University economist Uwe
Reinhardt, the savings and medical
quality improvements engendered
by managed care transferred $300
billion into the wallets and pocketbooks of working Americans —
managed care finds itself facing:
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Tracy Stillman
Provider Services
Milwaukee, WI

Rose Timmerman
National Contracting
Green Bay, WI

Charles Jackson
Information Systems
Cincinnati, OH

Linda Eigel
Provider Relations
San Antonio, TX

David Wong
Human Resources
Green Bay, WI

• Consumer Backlash
Consumers want to receive the care
they believe they need from their
doctor of choice with minimal
out-of-pocket expenses.
• Lawsuits
One of the industry's cost drivers
is expensive litigation, and the filing
of multiple lawsuits seeking classaction status against Humana and
its peer companies has exacerbated
the problem.

Peg Longdin
Utilization Management
Milwaukee, WI

Teresa Daniels
Administration
Jacksonville, FL

• Pharmaceutical Spending Explosion
Drugs are being developed faster,
gaining FDA approval more swiftly
and being accepted more readily by
an American public inundated by
drug-industry direct-to-consumer
advertising.
• Government Regulation
Legislators and policymakers are
highly sensitive to managed care
“horror stories,” and even though
such stories are statistically
insignificant and often inaccurate,
they are the godfather of statemandated benefits and equally
costly legislation that results in
higher premiums for the consumer.

Anthony Sanchez
Customer Service
San Antonio, TX

Liz Jacobucci
Marketing
Chicago, IL

Alice Bowling
Market Administration
Louisville, KY

Jon Ziegele
Sales
Milwaukee, WI

• Employer Anxiety
Employers are alarmed about rising
costs and faced with a dispiriting
choice between hefty price increases
and reduced benefits for their
employees.
On top of such an unhappy
environment, Humana faced internal
challenges in 1999. We failed to
anticipate medical cost trends
correctly in our commercial business,
and therefore struggled with
inadequate rates throughout the
year. We issued an earnings warning
in April, and experienced an
earnings per share decline of 40
percent in the first half of the year.
In early August, our chief executive
officer resigned.
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Since its inception in 1996, the Sachs Award has quickly become the "gold standard" for
quality in the managed care industry. It is awarded by the Sachs Group, a health care consulting
firm based in Evanston, Illinois, to a select number of health plans each year. The award is based
on member survey results measuring satisfaction, ease of health plan use, availability of quality
physicians and other factors important to health plan members. In 1999, two Humana health plans
— Cincinnati and Kansas City — won Sachs Awards out of only 17 presented nationwide. The
Cincinnati plan was given an award for an unprecedented fourth year in a row.

Barry Averill
Regional Vice President
Chicago, IL

Joe Berding
Regional Vice President
Miami, FL

E x c e l l e n c e
Photo: Greater Cincinnati Convention & Visitors Bureau

Larry Savage
President, Humana/ChoiceCare — Ohio
Cincinnati, OH
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Photo: Peter J. Schultz — City of Chicago

David A. Jones, Humana's
co-founder, long-time chairman and
former chief executive officer,
became interim CEO and appointed
a committee from the Board of
Directors to find the best chief
executive officer from inside or
outside the company as a permanent replacement. At the same time,
Humana's leadership was charged
with restoring accountability and
focus to the company's business.
Throughout the remainder of 1999,
the company concentrated on five
tactical initiatives designed to set the
stage for profitable growth in 2000
and beyond.
Results from the fourth quarter of
fiscal year 1999 indicate that the
initiatives already are succeeding.

Adjusted earnings improved
sequentially for the second
consecutive quarter (before a noncash charge primarily related to
goodwill write-offs and losses on
sales of non-core assets). Our
adjusted medical expense ratio
improved sequentially by 20 basis
points, we experienced strong
growth in our key Medicare markets
and adjusted cash flow from
operations improved to $234 million
from $78 million in the third quarter.
With new leadership and a
recommitment to openness and
accountability, the company's
17,000 associates have been
re-energized and refocused.
Michael B. McCallister, appointed

president and chief executive officer
on February 3, 2000, is a 26-year
Humana veteran who performed
superbly as a member of the Office
of the Chairman from August 1999
until his selection as chief executive
officer. As a long-time operations
executive, he successfully managed
both the payor and payee sides of
the health care equation in chief
executive officer roles at Humana
hospitals (before they were spun off
in 1993) and health plans in such
major company markets as Arizona,
Texas and Florida. Together with
his leadership team, Mr. McCallister
has developed a long-term vision,
purpose and value proposition
designed to answer the needs
of members, physicians and
employers in the age of Internetbased business.
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Pursuing

excellence

requires
constant vigilance on countless fronts.

Mitzi R. Krockover, M.D., a clinician and former executive director of the
Iris Cantor Women's Health Center at the UCLA School of Medicine in
Los Angeles, heads Humana's industry-leading programs in women's health.
The HumanaBeginnings
Web site offers help for pregnant
women and mothers with newborns.

Under Dr. Krockover's leadership, our programs in breast cancer, high-risk
pregnancy and neonatal care have achieved national distinction.
Dr. Mitzi Krockover
Women’s Health and Preventive Services
Louisville, KY

First, a review of our success with
our five key initiatives:

1

I N I T I A T I V E
:
Set premiums above medical
cost trends.

We've made substantial progress in
instituting aggressive rate increases.
In the commercial business, we
accomplished this through our
excellent broker relationships on the
small-group side, and through
improving the underwriting and
service infrastructure of our largegroup commercial business. The
result is that our premium yields
during the fourth quarter improved
to 9.6 percent on our commercial
business compared to 6.7 percent
during the third quarter. January
2000 premium yields improved
further to 11.7 percent, a month
where approximately one-half of
our commercial business renews.
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On the Medicare side of the
business, we concentrated our sales
in profitable markets, reduced
benefits and instituted member
premiums so that we are no longer
burdened by inadequate rate
increases from the Health Care
Financing Administration (HCFA)
that fail to keep pace with medical
cost trends. Member premiums give
us the flexibility to expand our
Medicare business in markets where
other factors, such as favorable
physician contracts, are likely to
bring us sustained success.
Our concerns about our members'
willingness to absorb the increase in
premiums have been partially allayed
by high January retention rates, and
by robust sales of new members
in the markets with significant
member premiums. The premiums
are competitive, and the benefits
continue to be richer than
traditional Medicare.

I N I T I A T I V E

2:

Build the large-group commercial
infrastructure.
We've added resources to both
underwriting and customer service
so that an area not traditionally
among Humana’s strengths is on
its way to becoming a profitable
business.

of the former PHCS physician
network in September 1999. Now
called the ChoiceCare Network, this
powerful amalgamation of 330,000
physicians and 2,500 hospitals is the
second-largest medical network in
the country and gives us tremendous sales leverage, especially in our
small-group business.
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3

:
Renegotiate contracts with
physicians, hospitals and
other providers.

I N I T I A T I V E

One of Humana's core strengths has
always been our advantageous
physician and hospital contracts.
We made further progress along
these lines in the last five months of
1999. In addition, we terminated
ineffective risk contracts with
physicians who lacked the capability
to manage them, and we instituted
a three-tier pharmacy benefit that is
expected to reduce our pharmacy
cost trend dramatically. We also
assumed management and control

I N I T I A T I V E
:
Improve cost management.

While physician recontracting and
three-tier pharmacy management
are central to improving medical
cost management, the key to
improving administrative cost
management is the Internet. As
an electronic business leader —
named by PC WEEK magazine last
November as the 29th most Websavvy company in any industry in the
U.S.— we have negotiated four key
strategic Internet relationships over
the past six months that position
us not only to achieve significant

cost savings, but also to provide
our members and physicians with a
seamless, hassle-free interface in
their interactions with Humana.
The first relationship is with The
TriZetto Group, a leading provider
of application services and business
portals for the health care industry.
This partnership will provide
Humana members, physicians and
employers nationwide with ePlan ®,
a health care Internet business selfservice application expected to
reduce administrative costs while
making it easier for our key
constituencies to conduct business
with Humana. In a phased rollout,
Humana's 5.9 million medical
members, more than 330,000
physicians and thousands of
employer groups will be given access
to ePlan®. Using ePlan ®, members
will be able to enroll in Humana
health plans, select a primary care
physician, request ID cards and view
the status of their claims. Physicians
will be able to verify patient
eligibility and benefits, view claims
status and submit specialist referrals
for approval. Employers will be able

to monitor the enrollment process to
mitigate errors and gauge employee
enthusiasm for plan offerings.
The second relationship is with
Oracle, a Silicon Valley-based
enterprise solutions company that
will provide us with packaged
software to help automate our sales
force, streamline our call center and
physician contract management,
and upgrade our human resources
capabilities.
The third relationship is with
Healtheon/WebMD — the leading
Web-based company in health care.
This relationship is a significant first
in the health care industry. Together,
Humana and Healtheon/WebMD
will provide self-service transactions,
marketing, deployment and content
development. Transactions for
physicians and members will include
claim status and benefit and
eligibility inquiries, with a goal to
reduce claim payment processing
time from days to hours.
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Fast access to

Shane Castle
Humana
Information Technology
Cincinnati, OH

knowledge empowers physicians and consumers.
Jim Lowry
Hamilton County
Director, County Personnel

Lisa Clark
Humana
Commercial Sales
Cincinnati, OH

As Humana takes steps
to establish itself as a health
solutions company connected
via computer to all its stakeholders, Hamilton County,
Ohio, is leading the way by
piloting an electronic enrollment model. Through this
innovation, Hamilton County
benefits managers input data
regarding enrollment changes
directly into the Humana
system, eliminating paperwork
and lag time, and freeing
Humana associates to serve
members' needs.

Gary Berger
Hamilton County
Benefits Manager

Beverly Tocash
Humana
Enrollment Analyst
Cincinnati, OH

Carolyn Marine
Hamilton County
Benefits Administrator

The fourth relationship is with EDS
of Dallas, Texas, a leader in the
global information technology
services industry for more than
35 years. This long-term business
relationship gives Humana the
means to license the EDS
MetaVanceTM Health Care Portfolio
to provide an enterprise solution for
health care processing. MetaVanceTM
will give us a new, cost-effective,
and easier-to-use claims-paying
platform that will be fundamental to
the development of our electronic
business initiatives.

I N I T I A T I V E
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5:

Rationalize markets, products
and platforms

We've made substantial progress
toward divesting non-core assets
and using the proceeds to pay down
debt and continue investing in our
Internet infrastructure. Since August,
we've exited the Florida individual
market; we've announced the sale
of our Nevada HMO business, our
Physician Corporation of America
(PCA) workers' compensation
business, the remainder of our
workers' compensation business in
a management buyout, our North
Florida Medicaid business and our
Medicare Supplement business; and
we exited, as of January 1, 2000,
31 Medicare counties that either
were losing money or were not
central to our Medicare strategy.
These moves will have the effect of
strengthening our balance sheet and
positioning us for stronger earnings
in 2000 and beyond.

The tremendous work accomplished
since August already has begun to
pay off. Nevertheless, it is not
enough. Just as Winston Churchill,
on the morning of the successful
Dunkirk maneuver in 1940,
remarked that “wars are not won
by evacuations,” so too successful
companies are not built on
divestitures. Thus, at the same time
we were undertaking these strategic
pruning measures, we announced
the acquisition of the Memorial
Sisters of Charity Health Network, a
95,000-member health plan based
in Houston, Texas. We were also
engaged in a rigorous self-analysis
— the result of which is a
new vision, purpose and value
proposition for Humana suited to
the needs of the 21st century.
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The company’s Internet efforts were recognized in late 1999 by PC WEEK
magazine, the leading information technology authority. PC WEEK named Humana 29th
among the nation’s 500 top Web-savvy companies, finishing ahead of many New
Economy pioneers. The top companies were lauded for deploying specific leading-edge
technologies, including e-commerce systems, virtual private networks, data warehouses,
Web-based collaboration software and Intranets with specific applications such
as purchasing.

Our stakeholders are getting
This new direction did not come out
of a vacuum. It is built on Humana's
long-standing strengths:

Our effective small-group
operations and broker
relationships.
Our broker relationships are the
envy of the industry and our smallgroup products have an outstanding
reputation for quality service. With
the addition of the ChoiceCar e
Network, we will preserve this capability as we improve service on our
other platforms.

Our Medicare HMO experience
and success.
We have a strong Medicare field
sales force, and a telemarketing
operation that has a proven track
record in generating sales. Both
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connected

resources can be quickly focused
on growing membership and
capitalizing on profit-improvement
opportunities. In addition, as one
of the very first Medicare HMO
contractors in the 1980s, we have
developed extensive market
experience and valuable relationships with HCFA that constitute an
important asset as we further
develop our Medicare business.

Our ChoiceCare Network.
As the second-largest physician and
hospital network in the countr y, the
ChoiceCare Network gives us access
to nearly half the nation's physician
population and an impressive array
of hospitals. This offers protection
for our small-group franchise
and expansion opportunities in
many states.
And, finally,

through the company’s new generation of online technology.
The self-analysis also forced us to
face our weaknesses and develop
plans to cure them.
Through post-enrollment member
health risk appraisals and physician
profiling, we will match those most
needing care with those best able
to provide it. Our goal is to provide
information for health care
consumers so they can manage
themselves instead of being
managed by us.

Our military health program.
Humana Military Healthcare Services
is one of the most successful
TRICARE (formerly CHAMPUS)
vendors and has a reputation
we will leverage as we bid for a
larger share of this reliably
profitable business.

Our ten markets with solid share.
We have a significant presence in
ten major markets. This will allow us
to continue to generate the patient
volume we need to suppor t
competitive physician and hospital
arrangements.

Our current contracts and products
are too complicated to adapt
easily to an electronically enabled
platform. Ultimately, achieving
success in migrating administrative
functions requires new levels of
discipline and execution toward
simplification. Today we are
designing a radical new generation
of products that take into account

individuals' desire to have more
control over their care and to be
aware of the true cost of the
medical choices they make.
Our historical focus has been on
providing our commercial group
customers with protection from the
financial risk associated with their
employees' health care costs. As
we move forward, providing the
information employers, members
and physicians need to improve the
value of their health care coverage
will be another core element of
our business.
Our vision is to become the most
trusted name in health solutions.
Our purpose is to enable peace of
mind for our customers and
members by providing financial
protection and knowledge that will
empower them to take charge of
their own health and well-being.
Our value proposition is service and
operational excellence.

Although a traditional focus on
helping to secure health and
financial security for our
membership is not to be devalued,
it is insufficient. Today employers
and members demand that we
empower them through greater
access to the knowledge that allows
them to make informed health
decisions. Technology enables us to
meet this need.
As more of the financial
responsibility for making health car e
decisions falls to the member, we
have the opportunity to live up to
the vision we have articulated by
providing meaningful, accurate and
timely information that our health
plan members can depend on to
help them make the decisions that
are best for them, thereby providing
them with peace of mind and a
sense of control.
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We treat our customers best when we

listen

to them first.

vice Service Service Service Ser
Dr. Steven Kaplan
Orthopedic Surgeon
Milwaukee, WI

Michele Jones
Member
Louisville, KY

Ted Martin
Agent
San Antonio, TX

Irene Raymoure
Internal Review
Louisville, KY

Don Franklin
City of Chicago
Chicago, IL

Dr. Thomas Shockley
Orthopedic Surgeon
Cincinnati, OH

Kristi Casale
Agent
Pompano Beach, FL

Rabbi Morton Malavsky
Member
Hollywood, FL

Bill Pepe
Medical Administrator
Miami, FL

We will build sustainable advantage
in the marketplace and engender
trust, which is the core of our vision,
only by providing outstanding service
and achieving operational excellence.
This means simultaneously meeting
the needs of our stakeholders
(physicians, employers, members,
agents and shareholders) and
achieving the efficiency to remain
price competitive. We believe we
can do so — through a combination
of technology and process
improvement, driven by engaged,
enabled associates who are
committed leaders.
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Dr. Thomas Gvora
Medical Director
Milwaukee, WI

Michele Malooley
Agent
Boynton Beach, FL

Nicholas Simon
Publishers Printing
Shepherdsville, KY

Michael Brady
City of Milwaukee
Milwaukee, WI

Dr. Barry Webb
Family Practitioner
Cincinnati, OH

Where does excellence already exist
at Humana? In many places, but
most potently in:
Our Cincinnati health plan.
Acquired in 1997, the Cincinnati
plan exhibits many features that
we will replicate elsewhere in the
Humana system in 2000 and
beyond. These features include a
close coordination among the plan's
information systems capabilities,
provider contracts, products and
service processes to maximize
automated processing. Cincinnati
has a self-contained service staff
closely aligned with market
operations. When people call, the

Juanita Hernandez
Member
San Antonio, TX

Emery Bodnar
Big Red, Inc.
San Antonio, TX

service representatives are likely to
be knowledgeable about the market
and give an answer without the
member having to be passed from
one person to another. The result
is consistently high customer
satisfaction ratings, low turnover
among associates, a high-quality
and highly staffed physician network
and healthy profitability. In fact, the
Cincinnati plan is one of only two
plans in the nation that have won
the coveted Sachs Award for health
plan excellence each year the award
has been given. The success of our
Cincinnati operations is testimony to
the wisdom of developing a marketcentric, customer-centric focus for
the entire Humana organization.
Humana will shift more authority
(and corresponding accountability)
to the markets, as a means of

Dr. Kristal Wolfe
Internal Medicine
Miami, FL

Bill Roby, Sr.
Broker/Consultant
Louisville, KY

Bernice Rucker
Member
Chicago, IL

Dr. Pepe Armas
Internal Medicine
Palm Beach, FL

building all-important relationships
at the local level so that customers,
members and affiliated physicians
know that local management has
the authority to make decisions and
to work with them.
Our women's health programs.
Under the direction of Dr. Mitzi
Krockover, vice president of
women's health and preventive
services, Humana has launched a
number of industry-leading
initiatives in this critical area
involving the people who, according
to surveys, make 75 percent of the
health care decisions in American
families. Humana has developed
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“

Trust can never be granted; it can only be earned — through the consistent
provision of quality service, and by treating our members the way we would want
our moms, dads, sons and daughters to be treated.
— David A. Jones, Chairman of the Board

TRUST

“

our goal
enviable expertise and excellence
in tending to the unique health
care needs of all age brackets of
the female population. Our
HumanaBeginnings program in
Louisville has reduced the number
of newborn babies admitted to
hospitals' neonatal intensive care
units by 29 percent compared to
the admission rates of infants of
nonparticipating Louisville mothers.
Our breast cancer prevention
program saves lives, and has been
honored as an exemplary plan by
the American Association of Health
Plans in conjunction with The
Commonwealth Group, a national
foundation that funds health
research. Since early 1999
Dr. Krockover has been the host of
the “HealthBeat” news and
information segment three times
weekly on WLKY-TV in Louisville.
The Web site associated with
the program, located at
www.humana.com/healthbeat/home
.html, is extremely popular and
Dr. Krockover has made herself
available to answer online questions
through our contract with
Healtheon/WebMD.

Internet technology.
To be competitive we must embrace
technology and increase both our
access to information and the
efficiency with which we do
business. With this in mind, we
are broadening and deepening
connectivity with our members
through our existing platforms,
while at the same time building a
new generation of completely
Internet-enabled platforms.
Electronic business will reduce
administrative costs as functions
that were performed manually are
automated. “E-enabling” our
current platforms also involves
improving those platforms’
interactive voice response and
electronic data interchange
capabilities. With proper alignment,
electronic business can also improve
managed care's medical expense
ratio, taking advantage of improved,
real-time information to enhance
medical management processes and
outcomes. At the same time that
we pursue electronic capability of
existing platforms, our agreement
with EDS is enabling us to build a
new Internet-enabled business
model from the ground up.

The major benefit of electronic
conversion will be the service we
provide to our customers, members
and physicians. To a large extent,
electronic business enables “service”
to become “self-service” — which is
consistent with what members and
customers tell us they want. It also
contributes to our growing focus on
becoming market-centric, because
it gives local associates the tools
they need to serve customers and
physicians on a local basis. Applying
the successful Cincinnati model,
our core markets are developing
dedicated operations teams in all
our service centers. We expect to
derive many benefits from this
alignment, including:
• increased integration,
alignment, understanding and
communication between the
markets and the service centers
that support them;
• alignment of processes, training
and incentives within the
markets; and
17

• simplification of the service
function, because our associates
have fewer products and
contracts to administer.

Kenneth J. Fasola
Chief Operating Officer
Small Group Division

Ultimately, all these elements —
progress in instituting accountability,
spreading excellence company-wide
through the adoption of best
practices, connecting to the Internet
to save money and make us hasslefree to our key external audiences,
and becoming market-centric —
lead to trust. We are dedicated to
becoming the most trusted name in
health solutions. We believe we will
earn and keep that trust as all our
17,000 associates are trained in, and
increasingly embody, this philosophy.
Within the company’s functional
areas, Humana leaders are paving the
way for the fulfillment of our vision.
They are widely recognized in their
fields of expertise and have already
attained a high level of trust from
their peers and colleagues. Among
many examples are:
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James E. Murray
Chief Operating Officer
Health Plan Division

Humana President and
Chief Executive Officer Michael B.
McCallister made two key
appointments to his staff in early
2000. Kenneth J. Fasola, senior vice
president of the Small Group
Division, was appointed chief
operating officer of that division.
James E. Murray, senior vice
president and chief financial officer,
was named chief operating officer of
the Health Plan Division. Both
served with Mr. McCallister in the
Office of the Chairman from August
1999 through January 2000.

• Kathy A. Augustian-Hinkfuss,
vice president, customer service and
operations, small group division.
Ms. Augustian-Hinkfuss brings 14
years of leadership experience to her
role as head of our Green Bay and
Madison, Wisconsin service centers.
After a successful career as a
licensed practical nurse, she has
distinguished herself as a process
engineer for Humana’s small group
operations. Among her achievements are the implementation of
programs in claims management,
medical management and transplant
management within our Wisconsin
operations. She is a member of the
International Customer Service
Association and an energetic
advocate for managed care in
appearances before governmental
organizations and civic groups
in Wisconsin.

Humana’s
Kathy Augustian-Hinkfuss
Small Group Division

• John M. Bertko,
vice president of actuarial
consulting.
A 1999 addition to Humana's staff,
Mr. Bertko is widely respected by
HCFA and rating agencies for his
acumen in developing premium and
capitation rates, conducting due
diligence for potential transactions
and in analyzing physician contracts
and claims reserves. He is a former
board member and vice president,
as well as a cur rent member, of the
American Academy of Actuaries, a
Fellow of the Society of Actuaries
and a Fellow of the Conference of
Consulting Actuaries.

leaders
John Bertko
Actuarial Consulting

Jeff Bringardner
Large Group Sales

• Jeffrey B. Bringardner,
vice president of large group
commercial sales.
Mr. Bringardner is central to the
leadership team charged with
transforming the large group
segment into a profitable growth
engine. He came to Humana when
the company acquired Employers
Health Insurance in 1995, where he
was assistant vice president of
corporate accounts, the large-group
and self-funded segment of the
company. In recognition of his
large-group sales and managerial
expertise, Mr. Bringardner has been
appointed to the board of directors
of the Association of Private
Pension and Welfare Plans in
Washington, D.C.

are recognized in their fields.

Bruce Goodman
Information Technology

Heidi Margulis
Government Affairs

• Bruce J. Goodman,
senior vice president and chief
information officer.
Mr. Goodman is an innovator and
the primary architect of Humana's
enterprise-wide electronic business
strategy. He is the former chief
executive officer of C2K Technology
Partners, providing high-level
information technology consulting
services with an emphasis on
Web-based applications and systems
integration. Previously, as chief
executive officer of Prudential
Service Company, he directed shared
services for all of Prudential's
businesses nationwide, managing
2,800 employees in 20 locations
throughout the U.S. and overseeing
a $650 million annual budget.

• Heidi S. Margulis,
senior vice president of
government affairs.
Ms. Margulis was recently appointed
to the HCFA Advisory Panel on
Medicare Education, in recognition
of her 15 years as Humana's

Sidney Morgan
Jacksonville Service Center

Bruce Perkins
National Contracting

Dr. Richard Vance
Population Health Improvement

principal liaison to the agency and
as a measure of the esteem in which
she is held by many Washington
constituencies. She has served
actively on policy, advocacy and/or
strategic planning committees of
the American Association of Health
Plans, the Healthcare Leadership
Council, and the Business
Roundtable, as well as industr y
advisory committees for the
National Association of Insurance
Commissioners and the National
Association of Managed Care
Regulators.

• Sidney W. Morgan,
vice president, service center
operations, Jacksonville.
Mr. Morgan's success in fostering
process improvement and personal
accountability brought significant
gains in efficiency and member
satisfaction when he headed
Humana's San Antonio Service
Center during the past year. His
current appointment took effect in
January. A member of the
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Only by being the

best

International Customer Service
Association and the Society of
Consumer Affairs Professionals in
Business, Mr. Morgan is a former
instructor at the University of
California-Davis’ extension campus,
where he taught courses in
member/physician services and
member retention.

• Bruce D. Perkins,
senior vice president of
national contracting.
A long-time Humana executive with
extensive hospital management as
well as HMO contracting experience,
Mr. Perkins is the ideal executive to
lead the newly acquired ChoiceCare
Network. Its 330,000 physicians and
2,500 hospitals make it the
second-largest medical network in
the country, and gives Humana vast
potential for expanding our

20

can we achieve our vision.

small-group business as well as
multi-market solutions for our
large-group business. Mr. Perkins
led the successful development of
Humana’s hospitalists program,
which has been widely emulated
within the managed care industry.

• Richard P. Vance, M.D.,
vice president of population
health improvement.
Under Dr. Vance’s leadership our
disease management programs —
notably the HumanaHealth
Advanced Care Partners program,
for members with multiple
conditions — have produced
excellent clinical results that have
improved quality for our most
vulnerable members. His efforts and
those of his staff garnered Humana
“the best” rating in a survey of
disease-management vendors
conducted by Disease Management
News magazine. A similar survey
resulted in best-in-the-industry
accolades from the Disease
Management Purchasing
Consortium.

T H AT’S WHY
When David A. Jones and
Wendell Cherry founded our
company in 1961, they wer e
dedicated to making it the best.
We are pleased to report that
commitment continues at
Humana. It is embodied in our
“blueprint for the future,” which
emphasizes technology as a
fundamental component of our
future operating model; the
need to change our medical
management process; and the
imperative of staying focused on
our current operations while
building a totally electronic
future operating model. This
blueprint lays the foundation for
our re-establishment as a growth
company. Our commitment to
this blueprint, and our ability to
carry it out, will bring us the
trust we seek to fulfill our vision.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA
(Dollars in millions, except per share results)
For the years ended December 31,

1999 (a)

1998 (b)

1997 (c)

1996 (d)

1995 (c)

S U M M A RY OF O PE RAT I O N S

Premiums
$
Interest and other income
Total revenues
(Loss) income before income taxes
Net (loss) income
(Loss) earnings per common share
(Loss) earnings per common share — assuming dilution
Net cash provided by operations

9,959
154
10,113
(404)
(382)
(2.28)
(2.28)
217

$

9,597
184
9,781
203
129
0.77
0.77
55

$

7,880
156
8,036
270
173
1.06
1.05
279

$

6,677
111
6,788
18
12
0.07
0.07
341

$

4,605
97
4,702
288
190
1.17
1.16
150

2,738
4,900
1,756
830
1,268

$

2,812
5,496
1,908
977
1,688

$

2,798
5,600
2,075
1,057
1,501

$

1,880
3,306
1,099
361
1,292

$

1,696
3,056
866
399
1,287

F INAN CIA L POSIT I ON

FINANCIAL SECTION

23
24
35
36
37
38
39
51
52
53
54
55

Selected Financial Data
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Consolidated Balance Sheets
Consolidated Statements of Operations
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
Report of Independent Accountants
Quarterly Financial Information (Unaudited)
Board of Directors
Senior Officers
Additional Information

Cash and investments
Total assets
Medical and other expenses payable
Debt and other long-term obligations
Stockholders’ equity

$

O P E R ATI N G D ATA

Medical expense ratio
Administrative expense ratio
Medical membership by segment:
Health Plan:
Large group commercial
Medicare HMO
Medicaid and other
TRICARE
Administrative services
Total Health Plan
Small Group:
Small group commercial
Total medical membership
Specialty membership:
Dental
Other
Total specialty membership

85.7%
15.0%

83.8%
15.2%

82.8%
15.5%

84.3%
15.5%

81.7%
13.9%

1,420,500
488,500
661,100
1,058,000
648,000
4,276,100

1,559,700
502,000
700,400
1,085,700
646,200
4,494,000

1,661,900
480,800
704,000
1,112,200
651,200
4,610,100

1,435,000
364,500
152,900
1,103,000
471,000
3,526,400

1,502,500
310,400
164,000
495,100
2,472,000

1,663,100
5,939,200

1,701,800
6,195,800

1,596,700
6,206,800

1,324,600
4,851,000

1,332,400
3,804,400

1,628,200
1,333,100
2,961,300

1,375,500
1,257,800
2,633,300

936,400
1,504,200
2,440,600

844,800
1,039,400
1,884,200

797,000
1,063,000
1,860,000

(a) Includes expenses of $585 million pretax ($499 million after tax, or $2.97 per diluted share) primarily related to goodwill write-down, losses on non-core asset sales, professional liability
(a) re s e rve strengthening, premium deficiency and medical re s e rve stre n g t h e n i n g .
(b) Includes expenses of $132 million pretax ($84 million after tax, or $0.50 per diluted share) primarily related to the costs of certain market exits and product discontinuances, asset write-offs,
(a) p remium deficiency and a one-time non-officer employee incentive.
(c) Includes the operations of Health Direct, Inc., Physician Corporation of America, ChoiceCare Corporation and EMPHESYS Financial Group, Inc. since their dates of acquisition,
(a) F e b ru a ry 28, 1997, September 8, 1997, October 17, 1997 and October 11, 1995, re s p e c t i v e l y.
(d) Includes expenses of $215 million pretax ($140 million after tax, or $0.85 per diluted share) primarily related to the closing of the Washington, D.C. and certain other markets, severance
(a) and facility costs for workforce reductions, product discontinuance costs, premium deficiency, litigation and other costs.
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERAT I O N S

The consolidated financial statements of Humana Inc. (the
“Company” or “Humana”) in this Annual Report present
the Company’s financial position, results of operations and
cash flows, and should be read in conjunction with the
following discussion and analysis. This discussion and
analysis contains both historical and forward-looking
information. The forward-looking statements may be
significantly impacted by risks and uncertainties, and are
made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. There can be no
assurance that anticipated future results will be achieved
because actual results may differ materially from those
projected in the forward-looking statements. Readers are
cautioned that a number of factors, which are described
herein and in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K
for the year ended December 31, 1999, could adversely
affect the Company’s ability to obtain these results. These
include the effects of either federal or state health care
reform or other legislation, including the Patients’ Bill of
Rights, any expanded right to sue managed care companies
and alleged class action litigation directed against the
managed care industry, changes in the Medicare
reimbursement system, the ability of health care providers
(including physician practice management companies) to
comply with current contract terms, renewal of the
Company’s Medicare contracts with the federal
government, renewal of the Company’s contract with the
federal government to administer the TRICARE program
and renewal of the Company’s Medicaid contracts with
various state governments and the Health Insurance
Administration in Puerto Rico. Such factors also include the
effects of other general business conditions, including but
not limited to, the success of the Company’s improvement
initiatives including its electronic business strategies,
premium rate and yield changes, retrospective premium
adjustments relating to federal government contracts,
changes in commercial and Medicare HMO membership,
medical and pharmacy cost trends, compliance with debt
covenants, changes in the Company’s debt rating and its
ability to borrow under its commercial paper program,
operating subsidiary capital requirements, competition,
general economic conditions and the retention of key
employees. In addition, past financial performance is not
necessarily a reliable indicator of future performance and
investors should not use historical performance to
anticipate results or future period trends.
INTRODUCTION
24

Humana is one of the nation’s largest publicly traded
health services companies that facilitates the delivery of
health care services through networks of providers to its

approximately 5.9 million medical members. The
Company’s products are marketed primarily through
health maintenance organizations (“HMOs”) and preferred
provider organizations (“PPOs”) that encourage or require
the use of contracted providers. HMOs and PPOs control
health care costs by various means, including preadmission approval for hospital inpatient services, preauthorization of outpatient surgical procedures, and
risk-sharing arrangements with providers. These providers
may share medical cost risk or have other incentives to
deliver quality medical services in a cost-effective manner.
The Company also offers various specialty products to
employers, including dental, group life and workers’
compensation and administrative services (“ASO”) to those
who self-insure their employee health plans. The Company
has entered into a definitive agreement to sell its workers’
compensation business. In total, the Company’s products
are licensed in 49 states, the District of Columbia and
Puerto Rico, with approximately 20 percent of its membership in the state of Florida.
During 1999, the Company realigned its organization to
achieve greater accountability in its lines of business. As a
result of this realignment, the Company organized into two
business units: the Health Plan segment and the Small
Group segment. The Health Plan segment includes the
Company’s large group commercial (100 employees and
over), Medicare, Medicaid, ASO, workers’ compensation
and military or TRICARE business. The small group segment includes small group commercial (under 100 employees) and specialty benefit lines, including dental, life and
short-term disability. Results of each segment are measured
based upon results of operations before income taxes. The
Company allocates administrative expenses, interest income
and interest expense, but no assets, to the segments.
Members served by the two segments generally utilize the
same medical provider networks, enabling the Company to
obtain more favorable contract terms with providers. As
a result, the profitability of each segment is somewhat
interdependent. In addition, premium revenue pricing to
large group commercial employers has historically been
more competitive than that to small group commercial
employers, resulting in less favorable underwriting margins
for the large group commercial line of business. Costs to
distribute and administer products to small group
commercial employers are higher compared to large group
commercial employers resulting in small group’s higher
administrative expense ratio.
AC QUI SIT IO NS AN D D ISPO S ITIO NS

Between December 30, 1999 and February 4, 2000, the
Company entered into definitive agreements to sell its

workers’ compensation, Medicare supplement and North
Florida Medicaid businesses for proceeds of approximately
$115 million. The Company recorded a $118 million loss in
1999 related to these sale transactions.
On January 31, 2000, the Company acquired the Memorial
Sisters of Charity Health Network (“MSCHN”), a Houston
based health plan for approximately $50 million in cash.
On June 1, 1999, the Company reached an agreement with
FPA Medical Management, Inc. (“FPA”), FPA’s lenders and
a federal bankruptcy court under which the Company
acquired the operations of 50 medical centers from FPA for
approximately $14 million in cash. The Company has
subsequently reached agreements with 14 provider groups
to assume operating responsibility for 38 of the 50 acquired
FPA medical centers under long-term provider agreements
with the Company.
On October 17, 1997, the Company acquired ChoiceCare
Corporation (“ChoiceCare”) for approximately $250 million
in cash. The purchase was funded with borrowings under
the Company’s commercial paper program. ChoiceCare
provided health services products to members in the
Greater Cincinnati, Ohio, area.
On September 8, 1997, the Company acquired Physician
Corporation of America (“PCA”) for total consideration of
$411 million in cash, consisting primarily of $7 per share for
PCA’s outstanding common stock and the assumption of
$121 million in debt. The purchase was funded with
borrowings under the Company’s commercial paper
program. PCAprovided comprehensive health services
through its HMOs in Florida, Texas and Puerto Rico. In
addition, PCAprovided workers’ compensation third-party
administrative management services. Prior to November
1996, PCAalso was a direct writer of workers’
compensation insurance in Florida. Long-term medical and
other expenses payable in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets includes the long-term portion of workers’
compensation liabilities related to this business.

The above acquisitions were accounted for under the
purchase method of accounting. In connection with these
acquisitions, the Company allocated the acquisition costs to
net tangible and identifiable intangible assets based upon
their fair values. Identifiable intangible assets, which are
included in other long-term assets in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets, primarily relate to subscriber
and provider contracts. Any remaining value not assigned
to net tangible or identifiable intangible assets was then
allocated to cost in excess of net assets acquired, or
goodwill. Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets
acquired, recorded in connection with the acquisitions, was
$17 million and $754 million in 1999 and 1997, respectively.
Subscriber and provider contracts are amortized over their
estimated useful lives (seven to 14 years), while goodwill
has been amortized over periods from six to 40 years.
At December 31, 1999, goodwill and identifiable intangible
assets represent 67% of total stockholders’equity. In
accordance with the Company’s policy, the carrying values
of all long-lived assets including goodwill and identifiable
intangible assets are periodically reviewed by management
for impairment whenever adverse events or changes in
circumstances occur. In addition, management periodically
reviews the reasonableness of the estimated useful life
assigned to goodwill and identifiable intangible assets.
Impairment losses and/or changes in the estimated useful
life related to these assets could have a material adverse
impact on the Company’s financial position and results
of operations.
During 1999, the Company recorded an impairment loss
and, effective January 1, 2000, adopted a 20 year
amortization period from the date of acquisition for
goodwill previously amortized over 40 years as discussed
in the following section.
AS SET WR ITE- DOW NS AN D O PERATIO NA L EX PEN SES

The following table presents the components of the asset
write-downs and operational expenses and their respective
classifications in the 1999 and 1998 Consolidated Statements
of Operations:

On February 28, 1997, the Company acquired Health Direct,
Inc. (“Health Direct”) from Advocate Health Care for
approximately $23 million in cash.

(In millions)

Medical

Selling,
General and
Administrative

Asset
Write-Downs
and Other

Total

1999:
FI R S T Q UA RT E R 1 9 99 :

Premium deficiency
Reserve strengthening
Provider costs
Total first quarter 1999

$

50
35
5
90

$

50
35
5
90

F O U R T H Q UA RT ER 1 9 99 :

Long-lived asset impairment
Losses on non-core asset sales
Professional liability reserve strengthening and other costs
Total fourth quarter 1999
Total 1999

$ 342
118
$
$

90

$

35
35
35

460
$ 460

$

342
118
35
495
585
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

(In millions)

Medical

Selling,
General and
Administrative

Asset
Write-Downs
and Other

Total

1998:

In addition, other expenses of $10 million were recorded
during the fourth quarter related to a claim payment
dispute with a contracted provider and government audits.

Activity related to the 1999 expenses follows:

T H IR D QU A R TE R 1 99 8 :

Premium deficiency
Provider costs
Market exit costs
Losses on non-core asset sales
Merger dissolution costs
Non-officer employee incentive and other costs
Total third quarter 1998

19 9 9 EX PE NSE S

Premium Deficiency, Reserve Strengthening and
Provider Costs

As a result of management’s assessment of the profitability
of its contracts for providing health care services to its
members in certain markets, the Company recorded a
provision for probable future losses (premium deficiency)
of $50 million during the first quarter of 1999. Ineffective
provider risk-sharing contracts and the impact of the March
31, 1999 Columbia/HCAHealthcare Corporation
(“Columbia/HCA”) hospital agreement in Florida on
current and projected future medical costs contributed to
the premium deficiency. The beneficial effect from losses
charged to the premium deficiency liability throughout
1999 was $50 million. Because the majority of the
Company’s customers’ contracts renew annually, the
Company does not anticipate the need for a premium
deficiency in 2000, absent unanticipated adverse events or
changes in circumstances.
Prior period adverse claims development primarily in the
Company’s PPO and Medicare products initially identified
during an analysis of February and March 1999 medical
claims resulted in the $35 million reserve strengthening.
The Company releases or strengthens medical claims
reserves when favorable or adverse development in prior
periods exceed actuarial margins existing in the reserves. In
addition, the Company paid Columbia/HCA$5 million to
settle certain contractual issues associated with the March
31, 1999 hospital agreement in Florida.
Long-Lived Asset Impairment

Historical and current period operating losses in certain of
the Company’s markets prompted a review during the
fourth quarter of 1999 for the possible impairment of longlived assets. This review indicated that estimated future
undiscounted cash flows were insufficient to recover the
carrying value of long-lived assets, primarily goodwill,
associated with the Company’s Austin, Dallas and
Milwaukee markets. Accordingly, the Company adjusted
the carrying value of these long-lived assets to their
estimated fair value resulting in a non-cash impairment
charge of $342 million. Estimated fair value was based on
discounted cash flows.

26

The long-lived assets associated with the Austin and Dallas
markets primarily result from the Company’s 1997
acquisition of PCA. Operating losses in Austin and
Dallas were related to the deterioration of risk-sharing
arrangements with providers and the failure to effectively
convert the PCAoperating model and computer platform
to Humana’s. The long-lived assets associated with the

$

$

46
27

73

$

$
$

25
25

$

15
12
7

$

34

$

46
27
15
12
7
25
132

Milwaukee market primarily result from the Company’s
1994 acquisition of CareNetwork, Inc. Operating losses in
Milwaukee were the result of competitor pricing strategies
resulting in lower premium levels to large employer groups
as well as market dynamics dominated by limited provider
groups causing higher than expected medical costs.

1999
Expenses

(In millions)

Premium deficiency
Reserve strengthening
Provider costs
Long-lived asset impairment
Losses on non-core asset sales
Professional liability reserve
strengthening and other costs

$

35
$ 585

19 9 8 EX PE NSE S

Market Exits, Non-Core Asset Sales and Merger
Dissolution Costs

Losses on Non-Core Asset Sales

On August 10, 1998, the Company and UnitedHealth Group
Company (“United”) announced their mutual agreement to
terminate the previously announced Agreement and Plan of
Merger, dated May 27, 1998. The planned merger, among
other things, was expected to improve the operating results
of the Company’s products and markets due to overlapping
markets with United. Following the merger’s termination,
the Company conducted a strategic evaluation, which
included assessing the Company’s competitive market
positions and profit potential. As a result, the Company
recognized expenses of $34 million during the third quarter
of 1998. The expenses included costs associated with exiting
five markets ($15 million), losses on disposals of non-core
assets ($12 million) and merger dissolution costs
($7 million).

The Company has entered into definitive agreements for
the disposition of its workers’ compensation, Medicare
supplement and North Florida Medicaid businesses, which
are considered non-core. As a result of the carrying value of
the net assets of these businesses exceeding the estimated
sale proceeds, the Company has recorded a loss of $118
million. Estimated fair value was established based upon
definitive sale agreements, net of expected transaction costs.
These transactions are expected to be completed in the first
and second quarters of 2000. Total assets of $725 million,
primarily consisting of marketable securities and
reinsurance recoverables and total liabilities of $490 million,
primarily consisting of worker’s compensation reserves
related to these businesses are included in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations
include 1999 revenues of $214 million and pretax operating
income of $38 million from these businesses. Included in
1999 and 1998 pretax operating (loss) income is $36 million
and $5 million of workers’ compensation reserve releases
resulting from favorable claim liability development.

The costs associated with the market exits of $15 million
included severance, lease termination costs as well as writeoffs of equipment and uncollectible provider receivables.
The planned market exits were Sarasota and Treasure
Coast, Florida, Springfield and Jefferson City, Missouri and
Puerto Rico. Severance costs were estimated based upon the
provisions of the Company’s employee benefit plans. The
plan to exit these markets was expected to reduce the
Company’s market office workforce, primarily in Puerto
Rico, by approximately 470 employees. In 1999, the
Company reversed $2 million of the severance and lease
discontinuance liabilities after the Company contractually
agreed with the Health Insurance Administration in Puerto
Rico to extend the Company’s Medicaid contract, with
more favorable terms. The Company estimated annual
pretax savings of approximately $40 million, after all
market exits were completed by June 30, 1999, primarily
from a reduction in underwriting losses. Approximately 100
employees were ultimately terminated resulting in
insignificant severance payments.

The Company also re-evaluated the amortization period
of its goodwill and as a result, effective January 1, 2000,
adopted a 20 year amortization period from the date of
acquisition for goodwill previously amortized over
40 years.
The $342 million long-lived asset impairment will decrease
depreciation and amortization expense $13 million annually
($13 million after tax, or $0.08 per diluted share), while the
change in the amortization period of goodwill will increase
amortization expense $25 million annually ($24 million
after tax, or $0.15 per diluted share).

Professional Liability Reserve Strengthening and
Other Costs

(In millions)

The Company insures substantially all professional liability
risks through a wholly owned captive insurance subsidiary
(the “Subsidiary”). The Subsidiary recorded an additional
$25 million expense during the fourth quarter of 1999
primarily related to expected claim and legal costs to be
incurred by the Company.

Premium deficiency
Provider costs
Market exit costs
Losses from non-core asset sales
Merger dissolution costs
Non-officer employee incentive
and other costs

50
35
5
342
118

1998
Expenses

$

46
27
15
12
7

25
$ 132

$

(90)

$ (342)
(28)

$

—
—
—
—
90

$ (370)

$

35
125

Premium Deficiency and Provider Costs

The Company also recorded $27 million of expense related
to receivables written-off from financially troubled
physician groups, including certain bankrupt providers.
Non-Officer Employee Incentive and Other Costs

During the third quarter of 1998, the Company recorded a
one-time incentive of $16 million paid to non-officer
employees and a $9 million settlement related to a third
party pharmacy processing contract.
Activity related to the 1998 expenses follows:

Non-cash

(17)

Balance at
December 31,
1998

$

(5)
(5)
(25)
(52)

$

(50)
(35)
(5)

As a result of management’s assessment of the profitability
of its contracts for providing health care services to its
members in certain markets, the Company recorded a
provision for probable future losses (premium deficiency)
of $46 million during the third quarter of 1998. The
premium deficiency resulted from events prompted by the
terminated merger with United wherein the Company had
expected to realize improved operating results in those
markets that overlapped with United, including more
favorable risk-sharing arrangements. The beneficial effect
from losses charged to the premium deficiency liability
in 1999 and 1998 was $23 million and $17 million,
respectively. In 1999, the Company reversed $6 million
of premium deficiency liabilities after the Company
contractually agreed with the Health Insurance
Administration in Puerto Rico to extend the Company’s
Medicaid contract, with more favorable terms.

$

$

$

Balance at
December 31,
1999

In accordance with the Company’s policy on impairment
of long-lived assets, equipment of $5 million in the exited
markets was written down to its fair value after an
evaluation of undiscounted cash flow in each of the
markets. The fair value of equipment was based upon
discounted cash flows for the same markets. Following the
write-down, the equipment was fully depreciated.

1998 Activity
Cash

1999 Activity
Non-Cash

Cash

$

(27)
(10)
(7)

(44)

$

29

Cash

$

1999 Activity
Adjustment

(23)

5

(2)

2

(2)

36

$

(27)

$

(6)

Balance at
December 31,
1999

$

(2)

$

(8)

$

—
—
1
—
—
—
1
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include the beneficial effect related to premium deficiency
on operating results for the periods shown. There were no
adjustments to results for 1997. The following table
reconciles the results reported in the Consolidated
Statements of Operations (“Reported Results”) to the results
contained in the following discussion (“Adjusted Results”)
for 1999 and 1998:

C O M PARIS O N O F RESU LTS OF O PE RAT I O N S

In order to enhance comparability as well as to provide a
baseline against which historical and prospective periods
can be measured, the following discussion comparing
results for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and
1997, excludes the previously described expenses, but does

Reported Results
(In millions, except per share results)

1999

Consolidated Statements of Operations caption items that are adjusted:
Operating expenses:
Medical
$ 8,532
Selling, general and administrative
1,368
Depreciation and amortization
124
Asset write-downs and other expenses
460
Total operating expenses
10,484
(Loss) income from operations
(371)
(Loss) income before income taxes
(404)
Net (loss) income
$ (382)
(Loss) earnings per common share
$ (2.28)
Diluted (loss) earnings per common share
$ (2.28)

$ 8,041
1,328
128
34
9,531
250
203
$
129
$ 0.77
$ 0.77

Reported Ratios
1999

Medical expense ratios:
Health Plan
Small Group
Total
Administrative expense ratios:
Health Plan
Small Group
Total

Excluded Expenses
1999 (a)
1998 (b)

1998

1998

$

$
$
$

(90)
(35)
(460)
(585)
585
585
499
2.97
2.97

$

$
$
$

(73)
(25)
(34)
(132)
132
132
84
0.50
0.50

Ratio Effect of Excluded Expenses
1999 (a)
1998 (b)

Adjusted Results
1999

1998

$ 8,442
1,333
124
—
9,899
214
181
$
117
$ 0.69
$ 0.69

$ 7,968
1,303
128
—
9,399
382
335
$
213
$ 1.28
$ 1.27

Adjusted Ratios
1999

1998

87.4%
81.9%
85.7%

85.3%
80.2%
83.8%

(1.0)%
(0.7)%
(0.9)%

(0.9)%
(0.5)%
(0.8)%

86.4%
81.2%
84.8%

84.4%
79.7%
83.0%

12.5%
20.4%
15.0%

12.8%
20.7%
15.2%

(0.4)%
(0.3)%
(0.4)%

(0.2)%
(0.4)%
(0.3)%

12.1%
20.1%
14.6%

12.6%
20.3%
14.9%

file closings, the Company reduced these liabilities by $36
million ($23 million after tax, or $0.14 per diluted share)
and $5 million ($3 million after tax, or $0.02 per diluted
share) in 1999 and 1998, respectively.
The adjusted administrative expense ratio improved
during 1999 to 14.6 percent from 14.9 percent in 1998. The
year-over-year improvement in the administrative expense
ratio reflects continued rationalization of staffing levels
commensurate with membership levels. The administrative
expense ratio is expected to increase slightly in 2000 from
increased spending on information technology.
Interest income totaled $132 million for 1999 and $150
million for 1998. This decrease resulted from a decrease in
realized investment gains, lower average invested balances
and lower investment yields. The tax equivalent yield on

(In thousands)

Health Plan

Beginning medical membership
Sales
Cancellations
TRICARE change
Ending medical membership
Ending specialty membership

4,494
588
(778)
(28)
4,276
477

The following table presents certain financial data for the
Company’s two segments for the years ended December 31,
1999 and 1998:
(In millions)

(a) Reflects the previously discussed medical, administrative, asset write-downs and other expenses of $90 million, $35 million and $460 million, re s p e c t i v e l y.
(b) Reflects the previously discussed medical, administrative, asset write-downs and other expenses of $73 million, $25 million and $34 million, re s p e c t i v e l y.
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Adjusted income before income taxes totaled $181 million
for the year ended December 31, 1999, compared to $335
million for the year ended December 31, 1998. Adjusted net
income was $117 million or $0.69 per diluted share in 1999,
compared to $213 million or $1.27 per diluted share in 1998.
The earnings decline was attributable to higher medical cost
trends which were not adequately anticipated by the
Company when it established premium rates for 1999.
These higher medical cost trends primarily resulted from
the introduction and rapid growth of an open access
product, ineffective risk-sharing arrangements, significant
increases in pharmacy costs and the unfavorable
negotiations of the Florida Columbia/HCAprovider
contract. During 1999, the Company implemented
initiatives to mitigate the effect of these issues. The
initiatives include pricing products commensurate with the
higher medical costs, rationalizing markets and products,
rehabilitating the large group commercial business,
re-contracting with providers and cost management
improvements focused mainly on medical and claims cost
management disciplines. These initiatives began to improve
operating results in the second half of 1999 but in large
part will be realized in January 2000 when the majority of
the Company’s large group commercial customers renew
and when the Company’s Medicare product offerings
were adjusted.

The Company’s premium revenues increased 3.8 percent to
a record $10.0 billion for 1999, compared to $9.6 billion for
1998. Higher premium revenues resulted from increased
premium yields of 7.4 percent and 3.4 percent for the
Company’s commercial and Medicare HMO products,
respectively. This increase was partially offset by a decline
in commercial membership of 177,900, due to selling the
Florida individual business line and the result of substantial
premium increases delivered to large group and small
group commercial customers. Membership levels are
expected to decline in 2000 due to the sale of certain noncore businesses and substantial premium rate increases.
The Company expects commercial and Medicare HMO
premium yields to approximate 10 to 12 percent and 6 to 7
percent, respectively, in 2000, the result of commercial
premium rate increases and newly introduced Medicare
member premiums.
The Company’s adjusted medical expense ratio for 1999
was 84.8 percent, compared to 83.0 percent for 1998. The
increase was the result of medical cost increases in the
Company’s commercial products exceeding premium
rate increases. Offsetting the impact of the increasing
commercial medical costs was the continued favorable
claim liability development in the Company’s run-off
workers’ compensation business acquired in connection
with its acquisition of PCA. After evaluating the workers’
compensation claim liabilities against claim payments and

Premium revenues:
Health Plan
Small Group
Adjusted income (loss) before income taxes:
Health Plan
Small Group

1999 (a)

$ 6,827
3,132
$ 9,959

$ 6,734
2,863
$ 9,597

$

$

$
Adjusted medical expense ratios:
Health Plan
Small Group
Adjusted administrative expense ratios:
Health Plan
Small Group

(a)
(a)
(a)
(a)
(b)
(a)
(a)
(a)

1998 (b)

184
(3)
181

$

304
31
335

86.4%
81.2%
84.8%

84.4%
79.7%
83.0%

12.1%
20.1%
14.6%

12.6%
20.3%
14.9%

Excludes the previously discussed medical expenses of $90 million ($66 million Health
Plan and $24 million Small Group), administrative expenses of $35 million ($27 million
Health Plan and $8 million Small Group) and asset write-downs and other expenses of
$460 million ($460 million Health Plan).
Excludes the previously discussed medical expenses of $73 million ($60 million Health
Plan and $13 million Small Group), administrative expenses of $25 million ($13 million
Health Plan and $12 million Small Group) and asset write-downs and other expenses of
$34 million ($23 million Health Plan and $11 million Small Gro u p ) .

Health Plan

Adjusted income before income taxes totaled $184 million
for 1999 compared to $304 million for 1998. The earnings
decline was attributable to higher medical cost trends
which were not adequately anticipated by the Company
when it established premium rates for 1999. These higher
medical cost trends primarily resulted from ineffective risksharing arrangements, pharmacy cost increases and the
result of unfavorable negotiations of the Florida

invested assets approximated 7.1 percent for 1999 and 7.7
percent for 1998. Tax equivalent yield is the rate earned on
invested assets, excluding unrealized gains and losses,
adjusted for the benefit of nontaxable investment income.
The weighted average investment life was 2.7 years at both
December 31, 1999 and 1998. Other income declined $12
million during 1999, due to the reduction of income from
ancillary businesses the Company sold in 1998 and a lower
contribution from the Company’s ASO business, partially
offset by a $12 million gain from the sale of a tangible asset
in 1999. Interest expense declined $14 million during 1999
as a result of lower average outstanding borrowings.
BUS INES S SEGM E NT I NFO RMATI ON FO R TH E Y EA RS
EN DED D ECEM BER 31 , 19 99 A ND 1998

The following table presents segment medical membership
and activity for 1999 and 1998:

1999
Small Group

1,702
436
(475)
1,663
2,484

Total

6,196
1,024
(1,253)
(28)
5,939
2,961

Health Plan

4,610
610
(700)
(26)
4,494
444

1998
Small Group

1,597
571
(466)
1,702
2,189

Total

6,207
1,181
(1,166)
(26)
6,196
2,633

Columbia/HCAprovider contract. Initiatives to mitigate
the effect of these issues include significant large group
commercial rate increases, re-contracting with, or
eliminating certain risk-sharing providers, implementing
three-tier pharmacy benefit designs, instituting Medicare
HMO member premium and benefit changes and exiting
various Medicare markets. These initiatives began to
improve operating results in the second half of 1999 but
in large part will be realized in January 2000 when the
majority of the Company’s large group commercial
customers renew and when the Company’s Medicare
product offerings were adjusted.
The Health Plan segment’s premium revenues increased 1.4
percent to $6.8 billion for 1999. Large group commercial
and Medicare HMO premiums remained unchanged at $2.3
billion and $2.9 billion, respectively. Higher premium yields
of 5.5 percent and 3.4 percent for the large group
commercial and Medicare HMO lines, respectively, were
offset by membership reductions. Large group commercial
membership decreased 139,200 from 1998 reflecting the
effects of the Company’s commercial premium pricing
actions intended to maintain profitability. Medicare HMO
membership decreased 13,500 members from the exit of the
Treasure Coast and Sarasota, Florida markets. The Medicare
HMO membership reduction from market exits was
somewhat mitigated by increased membership achieved
through the redirecting of sales and marketing efforts
focused on key Medicare markets like Chicago, Tampa and
South Florida. The Company’s Medicaid premiums
increased 8.8 percent to $603 million for 1999 compared to
$554 million in 1998. This increase resulted from the more
favorable rates obtained from the renewal of the
Company’s contract with the Health Insurance
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Administration in Puerto Rico in the second quarter of
1999. TRICARE premium revenues increased 8.3 percent to
$866 million in 1999, from $800 million in 1998, resulting
from an annual contract rate increase and additional
premiums recorded related to TRICARE’s risk-sharing
arrangement with the government.
The Health Plan segment’s adjusted medical expense ratio
for 1999 was 86.4 percent, increasing from 84.4 percent in
1998. The increase was the result of large group commercial
and Medicare HMO medical costs exceeding premium
increases. These higher medical cost trends were
attributable to the inability of certain risk-sharing providers
to effectively manage medical costs within their contractual
arrangements, higher pharmacy utilization and generally
higher medical cost trends across the industry. The
Company expects to realize improvements in its medical
cost trends in 2000 resulting from implementation of the
three-tier pharmacy benefit designs, improvements in risksharing arrangements, the exit of unprofitable Medicare
HMO counties and the sale of its Medicare supplement and
North Florida Medicaid businesses.
The adjusted administrative expense ratio improved 50
basis points from 1998 to 12.1 percent, the result of the
continued rationalization of staffing levels commensurate
with membership levels.
Small Group

The Small Group segment’s adjusted loss before income
taxes was $3 million for 1999 compared to adjusted income
before income taxes of $31 million for 1998. The decline in
profitability is attributable to higher medical costs which
were not adequately anticipated by the Company when it
established premium rates for 1999. To mitigate the effect
of higher medical costs, the Small Group segment’s
improvement initiatives include significant premium rate
increases, improving claim payment processes, provider
re-contracting, rationalizing markets and products and
implementing three-tier pharmacy benefit designs.
The Small Group segment’s premium revenues increased
9.4 percent for 1999 to $3.1 billion from $2.9 billion for 1998.
This premium increase was the result of increased premium
yields, offset by a reduction of 38,700 members from the
sale of the individual line of business in Florida.
The Small Group segment’s adjusted medical expense ratio
for 1999 was 81.2 percent, increasing from 79.7 percent for
1998. The medical expense ratio increase was the result of
medical costs exceeding premium yields. These higher
medical cost trends were the result of the rapid growth of
the Company’s more costly open access products, higher
pharmacy utilization and the greater than expected impact
of the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act
or HIPAAand its guarantee issue requirements.
30

The adjusted administrative expense ratio improved during
1999 to 20.1 percent from 20.3 percent for 1998.
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Adjusted income before income taxes totaled $335 million
for the year ended December 31, 1998, compared to $270
million for the year ended December 31, 1997. Adjusted net
income was $213 million or $1.27 per diluted share in 1998,
compared to $173 million or $1.05 per diluted share in
1997. The earnings increase was a result of the full year
contribution from the 1997 PCAand ChoiceCare
acquisitions, higher commercial premium yields, provider
risk-sharing initiatives, improved claims payment accuracy
across various product lines, and increased interest and
other income. These favorable items were partially offset by
higher interest expense and increased pharmacy costs.
The Company’s 1998 premium revenues increased 21.8
percent to $9.6 billion, from $7.9 billion for the year ended
December 31, 1997. This increase was attributable to the
current year effect of 1997 acquisitions, commercial and
Medicare HMO same-plan membership growth and
increased premium rates for the Company’s commercial
products. PCAand ChoiceCare premium revenues
contributed approximately $1.6 billion, a $1.1 billion
increase over 1997. Same-plan membership growth
contributed $120 million and commercial premium rate
increases added approximately $186 million, as same-plan
commercial premium yields increased 4.8 percent. Changes
in Medicare HMO premium yield had little effect on
premium revenues as same-plan yields declined 0.4 percent
in 1998. The Medicare 2 percent statutory rate increase for
1998 was offset by membership growth in geographic areas
with lower reimbursement rates.
During 1998, the Company’s adjusted medical expense ratio
increased to 83.0 percent from 82.8 percent for the year
ended December 31, 1997. The year to year increase was the
result of the higher medical expense ratio of acquired plans
being included for a full year during 1998. The same-plan
medical expense ratio improved 20 basis points to 82.2
percent from 82.4 percent in 1997, the result of the aforementioned premium rate increases, provider risk-sharing
initiatives and improved claim payment accuracy. These
improvements were partially offset by increased year-overyear pharmacy costs of 16 percent and 9 percent for the
Company’s commercial and Medicare HMO products,
respectively.
The Company’s adjusted administrative expense ratio was
14.9 percent and 15.5 percent for the years ended December
31, 1998 and 1997, respectively. This improvement was the
result of efforts to streamline the organization, as well as
realized cost savings from the Company’s 1997 acquisitions.
Interest income totaled $150 million for the year ended
December 31, 1998, compared to $131 million for the year
ended December 31, 1997. The increase was attributable to
the full year impact of including PCA’s and ChoiceCare’s
investment portfolios, as well as increased realized
investment gains. The tax equivalent yield on invested

assets approximated 7.7 percent and 7.5 percent for the
years ended December 31, 1998 and 1997, respectively. Tax
equivalent yield is the rate earned on invested assets,
excluding unrealized gains and losses, adjusted for the
benefit of nontaxable investment income. The weighted
average investment life increased to 2.7 years at December
31, 1998, from 2.6 years at December 31, 1997. Interest

(In thousands)

Health Plan

Beginning medical membership
Sales
Cancellations
Acquisitions
Dispositions
TRICARE change
Ending medical membership
Ending specialty membership

Premium revenues:
Health Plan
Small Group
Adjusted income before income taxes:
Health Plan
Small Group

1998 (a)

Adjusted administrative expense ratios:
Health Plan
Small Group

(a)
(a)
(a)
(a)

1998
Small Group

Total

Health Plan

3,526
499
(465)
1,188
(147)
9
4,610
507

(26)
4,494
444

1,702
2,189

(26)
6,196
2,633

1997

$

$
$

The following table presents segment medical membership
and activity for 1998 and 1997:

6,207
1,181
(1,166)

$ 5,487
2,393
$ 7,880

$
Adjusted medical expense ratios:
Health Plan
Small Group

EN DED D ECEM BER 31 , 19 98 A ND 1997

1,597
571
(466)

$ 6,734
2,863
$ 9,597
304
31
335

B US INES S SEGME NT INF OR MATIO N FOR TH E Y EA RS

4,610
610
(700)

The following table presents certain financial data for the
Company’s two segments for the years ended December 31,
1998 and 1997:
(In millions)

expense increased $27 million during 1998 from funding
the PCAand ChoiceCare acquisitions with
additional borrowings.

244
26
270

84.4%
79.7%
83.0%

84.3%
79.4%
82.8%

12.6%
20.3%
14.9%

13.1%
21.0%
15.5%

Excludes the previously discussed medical expenses of $73 million ($60 million Health
Plan and $13 million Small Group), administrative expenses of $25 million ($13 million
Health Plan and $12 million Small Group) and asset write-downs and other expenses of
$34 million ($23 million Health Plan and $11 million Small Gro u p ) .

Health Plan

Adjusted income before income taxes totaled $304 million
in 1998 compared to $244 million in 1997. The earnings
increase is attributable to the full year contribution from
1997 acquisitions of PCAand ChoiceCare, improved claim
payment accuracy and administrative expense reductions.
The Health Plan segment’s premium revenues increased
22.7 percent to $6.7 billion in 1998. This increase was
attributable to the current year effect of the 1997
acquisitions, large group commercial and Medicare HMO
same-plan membership growth and higher large group
commercial premium yields.
The Health Plan segment’s adjusted medical expense ratio
increased 10 basis points to 84.4 percent. The increase was
the result of the higher medical expense ratio of acquired
plans being included for a full year during 1998 and higher
pharmacy costs.

1997
Small Group

1,325
458
(392)
206

1,597
1,934

Total

4,851
957
(857)
1,394
(147)
9
6,207
2,441

The adjusted administrative expense ratio improved during
1998 to 12.6 percent from 13.1 percent in 1997 in the Health
Plan segment. This improvement reflects realized cost
savings from integrating the PCAand ChoiceCare
acquisitions into Humana’s operating model.
Small Group

Adjusted income before income taxes was $31 million in
1998 compared to $26 million in 1997. The earnings increase
is primarily attributable to improved claims payment
accuracy, increased interest and other income and
administrative expense reductions. These favorable items
were partially offset by higher interest expense and
increased pharmacy costs.
The Small Group segment’s premium revenues increased
19.6 percent to $2.9 billion in 1998. This increase was
primarily attributable to the current year effect of the 1997
acquisitions and small group commercial and specialty
same-plan membership growth.
The Small Group segment’s adjusted medical expense ratio
increased 30 basis points to 79.7 percent. The year to year
increase was the result of the higher medical expense ratio
of acquired plans being included for a full year during 1998
and higher pharmacy costs.
The adjusted administrative expense ratio improved during
1998 to 20.3 percent from 21.0 percent in 1997 in the Small
Group segment. This improvement reflects the continued
rationalization of staffing levels commensurate with
membership levels.
LIQUIDITY

Operating cash flows improved to $217 million in 1999
from $55 million in 1998, due to increased premium receipts
and reduced payments for accrued expenses, taxes,
severance and professional liabilities. Partially offsetting
these improvements were higher claim payments related to
the Company’s run-off workers’ compensation business.
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Cash provided by investing activities was $18 million
in 1999, compared to $28 million in 1998. These amounts
reflect the net effect of investment and capital
expenditure transactions.
Cash used in financing activities totaled $170 million in
1999 compared to cash provided by financing activities of
$51 million in 1998. This decrease primarily resulted from
1999 debt repayments and changes in book overdrafts.
The Company’s subsidiaries operate in states that require
minimum levels of equity and regulate the payment of
dividends to the parent company. As a result, the
Company’s ability to use operating subsidiaries’ cash flows
is restricted to the extent of the subsidiaries’ ability to
obtain regulatory approval to pay dividends.
The National Association of Insurance Commissioners has
recommended that states adopt a risk-based capital (“RBC”)
formula for companies established as HMO entities, similar
to the current requirement for insurance companies. The
RBC provisions may require new minimum capital and
surplus levels for some of the Company’s HMO subsidiaries. Many states have not yet determined when they
will adopt the RBC formula or if they will allow a phase-in
to the required levels of capital and surplus.
The Company currently maintains approximately $768
million of capital and surplus in its health insurance and
HMO entities, compared to the minimum statutory
required capital and surplus levels of approximately $569
million. If the states in which the Company conducts
business adopt the proposed RBC formula, without a
phase-in provision, the Company estimates it would be
required to fund additional capital into its various
subsidiaries of approximately $45 million. After this capital
infusion, the Company would have $138 million of capital
and surplus above the required RBC level.
The Company maintains a revolving credit agreement
(“Credit Agreement”) which provides a line of credit of up

to $1.0 billion and expires in August 2002. Principal
amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement bear
interest at either a fixed rate or a floating rate, ranging from
LIBOR plus 35 basis points to LIBOR plus 80 basis points,
depending on the Company’s credit ratings. The Credit
Agreement, which was amended in 1999 to reduce the line
of credit by $500 million from $1.5 billion and modify
certain covenants, contains customary covenants and events
of default including, but not limited to, financial tests for
interest coverage and leverage. The Company is in
compliance with all covenants. The Company also
maintains and issues short-term debt securities under a
commercial paper program.

$
$

(10.1)
9.1
(1.0)

RI SK-S ENS I TIV E F INA NCI A L IN ST R UMEN TS A ND PO SIT IO NS

E FFEC TS OF INF LATI ON A ND CHA NG ING PRI C ES

The Company’s risk of fluctuation in earnings due to
changes in interest income from its fixed income portfolio is
partially mitigated by the Company’s debt position, as well
as the short duration of the fixed income portfolio.

The Company’s operations are regulated by various state
and federal government agencies. Actuarially determined
premium rate increases for commercial products are
generally approved by the respective state insurance
commissioners, while increases in premiums for Medicaid
and Medicare HMO products are established by various
state governments and the Health Care Financing
Administration. Premium rates under the TRICARE
contract with the United States Department of Defense may
be adjusted on a year by year basis to reflect inflation,
changes in the workload volumes of military medical
facilities and contract modifications.

The Company has evaluated the interest income and debt
expense impact resulting from a hypothetical change in
interest rates of 100, 200 and 300 basis points over the next
twelve-month period, as reflected in the following table. In
the past ten years, annual changes in commercial paper
rates have never exceeded 300 basis points, changed
between 200 and 300 basis points twice and changed
between 100 and 200 basis points once. The modeling
technique used to calculate the pro forma net change
considered the cash flows related to fixed income
investments and debt, which are subject to interest rate
changes during a prospective twelve-month period.
Increase (decrease) in earnings given an interest rate
increase of X basis points
100
200
300

$
$

(6.7)
6.1
(0.6)

$
$

(3.4)
3.0
(0.4)

$

(4.0)
1.9
(2.1)

$

$

3.4
(3.0)
0.4

$

4.0
(1.9)
2.1

$

$

6.8
(6.1)
0.7

$

8.0
(3.8)
4.2

$

$

10.2
(9.1)
1.1

1998

Fixed income portfolio
Debt
Total

$
$

(11.9)
5.7
(6.2)

$
$

(7.9)
3.8
(4.1)

$
$

$

$

$

12.0
(5.7)
6.3

The following table presents the hypothetical change in fair market values of common equity securities held by the Company
at December 31, 1999 and 1998, which are sensitive to changes in stock market values. These common equity securities are held
for purposes other than trading.

(In millions)
(30%)

32

Decrease in valuation of securities
given an X% decrease in
each equity security’s value
(20%)

Fair Value at
December 31,
(10%)

10%

Increase in valuation of securities
given an X% increase in
each equity security’s value
20%

30%

1999

Common equity securities

$

(5.6)

$

(3.7)

$

(1.9)

$

18.6

$

1.9

$

3.7

$

5.6

$

(18.6)

$

(12.4)

$

(6.2)

$

62.1

$

6.2

$

12.4

$

18.6

1998

Common equity securities

The Company’s ongoing capital expenditures relate
primarily to information systems and administrative
facilities necessary for activities such as claims processing,
billing and collections, medical utilization review and
customer service. Total capital expenditures, excluding
acquisitions, were $89 million, $104 million and $73 million
for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997,
respectively. Capital expenditures during 1998 included the
$32 million purchase and renovation of a regional customer
service center in Jacksonville, Florida.
Excluding acquisitions, planned capital spending in 2000
will approximate $130 million to $140 million for the
funding of the Company’s technology initiatives and
expansion and improvement of its administrative facilities.

1999

Fixed income portfolio
Debt
Total

C A P I TAL R E SOURC ES

Management believes that funds from planned divestitures,
future operating cash flows and funds available under the
existing Credit Agreement and commercial paper program
are sufficient to meet future liquidity needs. Management
also believes the aforementioned sources of funds are
adequate to allow the Company to pursue selected
acquisition and expansion opportunities, as well as to fund
capital requirements.

Increase (decrease) in earnings given an interest rate
decrease of X basis points
(300)
(200)
(100)

(In millions)

Changes in equity valuations (based upon the Standard &
Poor’s 500 stock index) over the past ten years which were in
excess of 30 percent occurred four times, between 20 percent
and 30 percent occurred three times and between 10 percent
and 20 percent also occurred three times.

The Company’s 2000 average rate of statutory increase
under the Medicare HMO contracts is approximately two
percent. Over the last five years, annual increases have
ranged from as low as the January 1999 increase of two
percent to as high as nine percent in January 1996, with an
average of approximately five percent. The Company’s
Medicare HMO contracts with the federal government are
renewed for a one-year term each December 31 unless
terminated 90 days prior thereto.
Legislative proposals are being considered which may
revise the Medicare program’s current support of the use of
managed health care for Medicare beneficiaries and the
future reimbursement rates thereunder. Management is
unable to predict the outcome of these proposals or the
impact they may have on the Company’s financial position,
results of operations or cash flows. The Company’s
Medicaid contracts are generally annual contracts with
various states except for the two-year contract with the
Health Insurance Administration in Puerto Rico.
Additionally, the Company’s TRICARE contract is a oneyear contract renewable on July 1, 2000, for one additional
year. The loss of these contracts or significant changes in
these programs as a result of legislative action, including

reductions in payments or increases in benefits without
corresponding increases in payments, would have a
material adverse effect on the revenues, profitability and
business prospects of the Company.
In addition, the Company continually contracts and seeks
to renew contracts with providers at rates designed to
ensure adequate profitability. To the extent the Company is
unable to obtain such rates, its financial position, results of
operations and cash flows could be adversely impacted.
TH E C OMPAN Y’ S YE AR 20 00 D I SCL OSU R E S TAT E M E N T

The Company commenced its assessment of Year 2000
exposures in early 1996. In December 1998, the Company
was 100 percent complete with the remediation of its core
business systems and by December 1999 had remediated
100 percent of its business application systems. As of
December 31, 1999, the Company had completed all Year
2000 initiatives.
To date, the Company has experienced no outages or
problems related to the Year 2000 date rollover. All business
systems are functioning normally and the Company has not
experienced any disruptions in service with third party
organizations with which it interacts related to the
century change.
The Company’s application systems are largely developed
and maintained in-house by a staff of 400 application
programmers who are versed in the utilization of state-ofthe-art technology. All application systems are fully
integrated and automatically pass data through various
system processes. The Company’s primary data center and
the majority of its programming and support staff are
located at the Company’s corporate offices in Louisville,
Kentucky. In order to create the necessary internal focus
surrounding the Year 2000 issue, the Company established
a centralized Year 2000 Program Management Office
(“PMO”) which is charged with overall coordination of
enterprise wide Year 2000 initiatives and regular progress
reporting to the Company’s senior management.
The Year 2000 project is currently estimated to have a
minimum total cost of approximately $30 million of which
approximately $10 million was spent during 1999. Year 2000
expenses represented less than ten percent of the
Information Systems budget during 1999. Year 2000 costs
are expensed as incurred and funded with cash flows from
operations. The Company does not expect to incur
significant Year 2000 project costs in the year 2000.
The extent and magnitude of the Year 2000 project, as it will
affect the Company for some period after January 1, 2000, is
difficult to predict or quantify. In order to mitigate these
risks, the Company developed business continuity and
contingency plans which were finalized in the second
quarter of 1999. These plans would be enacted if Year 2000
problems were to occur within the Company, or if third
party constituents have failures due to the millennium
change. Contingency plans were developed for six major
functional areas encompassing 22 operational subdivisions
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that require contingency plan development. The six major
functional areas are: providers, service centers, suppliers
and vendors, customers and brokers, banking and finance
and legal services.
While the Company presently believes that the timely
completion of its Year 2000 project limited the exposure, so
that the Year 2000 issue has not posed material operational
problems, the Company recognizes that it does not control
third party constituents. If these third party organizations
have failures related to the Year 2000 century change
and/or fail to properly implement appropriate contingency
plans, Year 2000 failures may result. These failures could
potentially have a material adverse impact on the
Company’s financial position, results of operations and
cash flows.
L EGA L PR OC EED ING S

During 1999, six purported class action complaints have
been filed against the Company and certain of its current
and former directors and officers claiming that the
Company and the individual defendants knowingly or
recklessly made false or misleading statements in press
releases and public filings concerning the Company’s
financial condition. All seek money damages of
unspecified amounts.
Since October 1999, the Company has received purported
class action complaints alleging, among other things, that
Humana intentionally concealed from its members
information concerning the various ways Humana decides
what claims will be paid, what procedures will be deemed
medically necessary, and what criteria and procedures are
used to determine the extent and type of their coverage.
The complaints also allege that Humana concealed from
members the existence of direct financial incentives to
treating physicians and other health care providers to deny
coverage. The complaints, generally, do not allege that any
member was denied coverage for services that should have
been covered but, instead, claim that Humana provided
health insurance benefits of lesser value than promised. All
seek money damages of unspecified amounts. The
Company has requested to consolidate these complaints to
a single court.
The Company believes the allegations in all of the above
complaints are without merit and intends to pursue the
defense of the actions vigorously.
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On January 4, 2000, a jury in Palm Beach County, Florida,
issued a verdict against Humana Health Insurance
Company of Florida, Inc., awarding $79 million to Mark
Chipps, an insured who had sued individually and on
behalf of his minor daughter. The claim arose from the
removal of the child from a case management program
which had provided her with benefits in excess of those
available under her policy. The award included $78 million
for punitive damages, $1 million for emotional distress and
$28,000 for contractual benefits. The Company is in the
process of appealing the verdict.

During 1999, the Company reached an agreement in
principle with the United States Department of Justice and
the Department of Health and Human Services on a $15
million settlement relating to Medicare premium
overpayments. The settlement is expected to be paid sometime during 2000. The Company had previously established
adequate liabilities for the resolution of these issues and,
therefore, the settlement did not have a material impact on
the Company’s financial position or results of operations.
Damages for claims for personal injuries and medical
benefit denials are usual in the Company’s business.
Personal injury and medical benefit denial claims are
covered by insurance from the Company’s wholly owned
captive insurance Subsidiary and excess carriers, except to
the extent that claimants seek punitive damages, in states
which prohibit insurable coverage for punitive damages.
In connection with the Chipps case, the excess carriers have
preliminarily indicated that they believe no coverage may
be available for a punitive damages award.
During the ordinary course of its business, the Company is
or may become subject to pending or threatened litigation
or other legal actions. Management does not believe that
any pending and threatened legal actions against the
Company or audits by agencies will have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or
results of operations.
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C O N S O L I D ATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In millions, except share amounts)
December 31,

1999

1998

ASSETS

Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Marketable securities
Premiums receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts
of $61 in 1999 and $62 in 1998
Deferred income taxes
Other
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets:
Long-term marketable securities
Cost in excess of net assets acquired
Deferred income taxes
Other
Total other assets
Total assets

R E C E N T LY I SS UE D A CCO U NTIN G P RO NOUN CEME NTS

L IABI LI TIES A ND ST O CKHO LD ER S ’ EQUI T Y

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Boar d
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”). In general, SFAS No. 133
requires that all derivatives be recognized as either assets or
liabilities in the balance sheet at their fair value, and sets
forth the manner in which gains or losses thereon are to be
recorded. The treatment of such gains or losses is
dependent upon the type of exposure, if any, for which the
derivative is designated as a hedge. This standard is
effective for the Company’s financial statements beginning
January 1, 2001, with early adoption permitted.
Management of the Company anticipates that the adoption
of SFAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001 will not have a material
impact on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Current liabilities:
Medical and other expenses payable
Trade accounts payable and accrued expenses
Book overdraft
Unearned premium revenues
Accrued losses on asset sales
Commercial paper
Total current liabilities
Long-term medical and other expenses payable
Professional liability and other obligations
Debt
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies
Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock, $1 par; authorized 10,000,000 shares; none issued
Common stock, $0.16 2/3 par; authorized 300,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding
167,514,710 shares — 1999 and 167,515,362 shares — 1998
Capital in excess of par value
Deferred compensation — restricted stock
Retained earnings
Accumulated other comprehensive (loss) income
Total stockholders’ equity
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity

$

$

$

$

978
1,507

$

913
1,594

225
161
193
3,064

276
129
207
3,119

418

433

253
806
54
305
1,418
4,900

305
1,188
64
387
1,944
5,496

1,432
392
215
349
90
686
3,164
324
144

$

$

1,470
395
234
294

3,632

730
3,123
438
154
93
3,808

28
899
(2)
371
(28)
1,268
4,900

28
903
(9)
753
13
1,688
5,496

$

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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(In millions, except per share results)

Capital
1999

1998

1997

$

Operating expenses:
Medical
Selling, general and administrative
Depreciation and amortization
Asset write-downs and other expenses
Total operating expenses

9,959
154
10,113

$

8,532
1,368
124
460
10,484

9,597
184
9,781

$

7,880
156
8,036

8,041
1,328
128
34
9,531

7,746

(371)

250

290

33

47

20

(Loss) income before income taxes

(404)

203

270

(Benefit) provision for income taxes

(22)

74

97

(Loss) income from operations
Interest expense

6,522
1,116
108

Net (loss) income

$

(382)

$

129

$

173

(Loss) earnings per common share

$

(2.28)

$

0.77

$

1.06

(Loss) earnings per common share – assuming dilution

$

(2.28)

$

0.77

$

1.05

Deferred

In Excess
Common Stock

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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C O N S O L I D ATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

For the years ended December 31,

Revenues:
Premiums
Interest and other income
Total revenues

U

of Par

(In millions)

Shares

Amount

Balances, January 1, 1997
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized investment gains,
net of $10 tax
Comprehensive income
Change in deferred compensation
Restricted stock amortization
Stock option exercises
Stock option tax benefit

163

Balances, December 31, 1997
Comprehensive income:
Net income
Other comprehensive income:
Net unrealized investment gains,
net of $2 tax
Comprehensive income
Change in deferred compensation
Restricted stock amortization
Stock option exercises
Stock option tax benefit

164

4

1

35
16

Balances, December 31, 1998
Comprehensive loss:
Net loss
Other comprehensive loss:
Net unrealized investment losses,
net of $27 tax
Comprehensive loss
Change in deferred compensation

168

28

903

$

27

824

Stock

$

(2)

$

Other

Total

Retained

Comprehensive

Stockholders’

Earnings

(Loss) Income

Equity

451

$

(8)

173

2
1

27

17

17
190
—
1
11
7

9

1,501

(2)
1

844

(3)

624
129

8

129

4

4
133
—
2
36
16

13

1,688

(8)
2

(9)

753
(382)

(382)

(41)
(5)

5

2

$

28

$

899

$

(2)

(41)
(423)
—

2
1

1
168

$ 1,292
173

11
7

Restricted stock amortization
Stock option exercises
Balances, December 31, 1999

Restricted

Value

$

Accumulated

Compensation —

$

371

$

(28)

$ 1,268

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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(In millions)
For the years ended December 31,

1999

1998

1997

$ 129

$ 173

C ASH FLOW S FR OM OPE R ATIN G AC TIV ITI ES

Net (loss) income
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income
to net cash provided by operating activities:
Asset write-downs and other expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Gain on sale of property and equipment
Gain on sale of marketable securities
Deferred income taxes
Provision for doubtful accounts
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Premiums receivable
Other assets
Medical and other expenses payable
Workers’ compensation liabilities
Other liabilities
Unearned premium revenues
Other
Net cash provided by operating activities

1. REPOR TING ENT ITY

$ (382)

460
124
(12)
(11)
5
12

17
128
(21)
26
11

(10)
40
10

39
54
(23)
(150)
45
56

34
32
(22)
(134)
(135)
(10)

217

55

(112)
(47)
(118)
(31)
57
203
6
279

108

C ASH FLOW S FR OM INV ES TING AC TI VIT IES

Acquisitions of health plan assets, net of cash acquired
Purchases of property and equipment
Dispositions of property and equipment
Purchases of marketable securities
Maturities of marketable securities
Proceeds from sales of marketable securities
Other
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities

(14)
(89)
54
(781)
391
472
(15)
18

(669)
(73)
15
(608)
341
317
23
(654)

(104)
12
(1,037)
380
815
(38)
28

(93)
(44)
(19)
(14)
(170)
65
913
$ 978

123
(330)
141
82
35
51
134
779
$ 913

367
(1)
13
679
304
475
$ 779

$

33
(58)

$

$

$

20
(6)
14

C ASH FLOW S FR OM F INAN CING AC TI VI TIES

Issuance of long-term debt
Repayment of long-term debt
Net commercial paper (repayments) borrowings
Change in book overdraft
Other
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activities
Increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period

38

Supplemental cash flow disclosures:
Interest payments
Income tax (refunds) payments, net
Details of businesses acquired in purchase transactions:
Fair value of assets acquired
Less: liabilities assumed
Cash paid for acquired businesses, net of cash acquired
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

$

49
69

300

15
8

$ 1,973
(1,304)
$ 669

Nature of Operations

Humana Inc. (the “Company” or “Humana”) is one of the
nation’s largest publicly traded health services companies
that facilitates the delivery of health care services through
networks of providers to its approximately 5.9 million
medical members. The Company’s products are marketed
primarily through health maintenance organizations
(“HMOs”) and preferred provider organizations (“PPOs”)
that encourage or require the use of contracted providers.
HMOs and PPOs control health care costs by various
means, including pre-admission approval for hospital
inpatient services, pre-authorization of outpatient surgical
procedures, and risk-sharing arrangements with providers.
These providers may share medical cost risk or have other
incentives to deliver quality medical services in a costeffective manner. The Company also offers various specialty
products to employers, including dental, group life and
workers’ compensation and administrative services
(“ASO”) to those who self-insure their employee health
plans. The Company has entered into a definitive
agreement to sell its workers’ compensation business. In
total, the Company’s products are licensed in 49 states, the
District of Columbia and Puerto Rico, with approximately
20 percent of its membership in the state of Florida.
During 1999, the Company realigned its organization to
achieve greater accountability in its lines of business. As a
result of this realignment, the Company organized into two
business units: the Health Plan segment and the Small
Group segment. The Health Plan segment includes the
Company’s large group commercial (100 employees and
over), Medicare, Medicaid, ASO, workers’ compensation
and military or TRICARE business. The small group
segment includes small group commercial (under 100
employees) and specialty benefit lines, including dental, life
and short-term disability. Results of each segment are
measured based upon results of operations before income
taxes. The Company allocates administrative expenses,
interest income and interest expense, but no assets, to the
segments. Members served by the two segments generally
utilize the same medical provider networks, enabling the
Company to obtain more favorable contract terms with
providers. As a result, the profitability of each segment is
somewhat interdependent. In addition, premium revenue
pricing to large group commercial employers has
historically been more competitive than that to small group
commercial employers, resulting in less favorable under-

writing margins for the large group commercial line of
business. Costs to distribute and administer products to
small group commercial employers are higher compared to
large group commercial employers resulting in small
group’s higher administrative expense ratio.
2. SU MMAR Y OF SIGN I FI C ANT A CCO U NTIN G P OLIC I ES

Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include all
subsidiaries of the Company. All significant intercompany
accounts and transactions have been eliminated.
Use of Estimates in Preparation of Financial Statements

The preparation of financial statements in accordance
with generally accepted accounting principles requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the amounts reported in the financial statements and
accompanying notes. Although these estimates are based on
knowledge of current events and anticipated future events,
actual results may ultimately differ from those estimates.
Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash, time deposits,
money market funds, commercial paper and certain U.S.
Government securities with an original maturity of three
months or less. Carrying value approximates fair value due
to the short-term maturity of the investments.
Marketable Securities

Marketable debt and equity securities have been
categorized as available for sale and, as a result, are stated
at fair value based generally on quoted market prices.
Marketable debt and equity securities available for current
operations are classified as current assets. Marketable
securities available for the Company’s capital spending,
professional liability, long-term insurance product requirements and payment of long-term workers’ compensation
claims are classified as long-term assets. Unrealized holding
gains and losses, net of applicable deferred taxes, are
included as a component of stockholders’ equity
until realized.
For the purpose of determining gross realized gains and
losses, the cost of securities sold is based upon specific
identification.
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Long-Lived Assets

Property and equipment is carried at cost, and is comprised
of the following at December 31, 1999 and 1998:
(In millions)

Land
Buildings
Equipment and computer software

1999

$

Accumulated depreciation
$

32
364
432
828
(410)
418

1998

$

33
355
400
788
(355)
$ 433

Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method
over estimated useful lives ranging from three to ten years
for equipment, three to five years for computer software
and twenty years for buildings. Depreciation expense was
$79 million, $75 million and $66 million for the years ended
December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
Cost in excess of net assets acquired, or goodwill,
represents the unamortized excess of cost over the fair
value of net tangible and identifiable intangible assets
acquired. Identifiable intangible assets, which are included
in other long-term assets in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets, primarily relate to subscriber and provider
contracts. Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets are
amortized on a straight-line method over their estimated
useful lives. Goodwill has been amortized over periods
ranging from six to 40 years and identifiable intangible
assets are being amortized over periods ranging from seven
to 14 years. After a re-evaluation, effective January 1, 2000,
the Company adopted a 20 year amortization period from
the date of acquisition for goodwill previously amortized
over 40 years. Amortization expense was $45 million,
$53 million and $42 million for the years ended December
31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
The carrying values of all long-lived assets are periodically
reviewed by management for impairment, based upon
undiscounted market level cash flows, whenever adverse
events or changes in circumstances occur. Losses are
recognized when the carrying value of a long-lived asset
may not be recoverable. See Note 3 for a discussion related
to the Company’s impairment review.
Revenue and Medical Cost Recognition

Premium revenues are recognized as income in the period
members are entitled to receive services. Premiums
received prior to such period are recorded as unearned
premium revenues.

40

Medical costs include claim payments, capitation payments,
physician salaries, allocations of certain centralized
expenses and various other costs incurred to provide
medical care to members, as well as estimates of future
payments to hospitals and others for medical care provided
prior to the balance sheet date. Capitation payments
represent monthly prepaid fees disbursed to participating
primary care physicians and other providers who are
responsible for providing medical care to members. The
estimates of future medical claim and other expense
payments are developed using actuarial methods and

assumptions based upon payment patterns, medical
inflation, historical development and other relevant factors.
Estimates of future payments relating to services incurred
in the current and prior periods are continually reviewed
by management and adjusted as necessary.
The Company assesses the profitability of its contracts for
providing health care services to its members when current
market operating results or forecasts indicate probable
future losses. The Company records a premium deficiency
in current operations to the extent that the sum of expected
health care costs, claim adjustment expenses and
maintenance costs exceeds related future premiums.
Anticipated investment income is not considered for
purposes of computing the premium deficiency. Because
the majority of the Company’s member contracts renew
annually, the Company does not anticipate premium
deficiencies, except when unanticipated adverse events or
changes in circumstances indicate otherwise. See Note 3 for
a discussion related to premium deficiencies.
Management believes the Company’s medical and other
expenses payable are adequate to cover future claims
payments required, however, such estimates are based on
knowledge of current events and anticipated future events,
and, therefore, the actual liability could differ from
amounts provided.
Book Overdraft

Under the Company’s cash management system, checks
issued but not presented to banks frequently result in
overdraft balances for accounting purposes and are
classified as a current liability in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.

(Dollars in millions, except per share results)

Loss per common share
Effect of dilutive stock options
Loss per common share – assuming dilution

Shares

Per Share Results

$

(382)

167,555,917

$

(2.28)

$

(382)

167,555,917

$

(2.28)

$

129

$

0.77

$

129

166,471,824
1,792,756
168,264,580

$

0.77

$

173

$

$

173

163,406,460
2,436,019
165,842,479

1.06
(0.01)
1.05

YE A R E ND E D D E CE MB E R 3 1, 1 99 8

Earnings per common share
Effect of dilutive stock options
Earnings per common share – assuming dilution
YE A R E ND E D D E CE MB E R 3 1, 1 99 7

Earnings per common share
Effect of dilutive stock options
Earnings per common share – assuming dilution

Options to purchase 9,427,060, 1,562,949 and 2,414,148
shares for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and
1997, respectively, were not included in the computation of
(loss) earnings per common share-assuming dilution due to
the Company’s loss in 1999 and because the options’
exercise prices were greater than the average market price
of the Company’s common stock in 1998 and 1997.
Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior years’
consolidated financial statements to conform with the
current year presentation.

$

requires that all derivatives be recognized as either assets or
liabilities in the balance sheet at their fair value, and sets
forth the manner in which gains or losses thereon are
to be recorded. The treatment of such gains or losses is
dependent upon the type of exposure, if any, for which the
derivative is designated as a hedge. This standard is
effective for the Company’s financial statements
beginning January 1, 2001, with early adoption permitted.
Management of the Company anticipates that the adoption
of SFAS No. 133 on January 1, 2001 will not have a material
impact on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

3. A SSE T W RI TE -DOW NS A ND OPER ATIONA L EXPE NSE S

In June 1998, the Financial Accounting Standards Board
issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.
133, “Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging
Activities” (“SFAS No. 133”). In general, SFAS No. 133

The following table presents the components of the asset
write-downs and operational expenses and their respective
classifications in the 1999 and 1998 Consolidated Statements
of Operations:

Stock Options

(In millions)

The Company has adopted the disclosure-only provisions
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123,
“Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS 123”)
and uses Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25 and
related interpretations in the accounting for its stock option
plans. No compensation expense has been recognized in
connection with the granting of stock options. See Note 8
for discussion of stock options and the disclosures required
by SFAS 123.

1999:

Selling,
General and
Administrative

Medical

Asset
Write-Downs
and Other

Total

FI R S T Q UA RT E R 1 9 99 :

Premium deficiency
Reserve strengthening
Provider costs
Total first quarter 1999

$

50
35
5
90

$

50
35
5
90

F O U R T H Q UA RT ER 1 9 99 :

Long-lived asset impairment
Losses on non-core asset sales
Professional liability reserve strengthening and other costs
Total fourth quarter 1999
Total 1999

(Loss) Earnings Per Common Share

Detail supporting the computation of (loss) earnings per
common share and (loss) earnings per common shareassuming dilution follows:

Net (Loss) Income

YE A R E ND E D D E CE MB E R 3 1, 1 99 9

$ 342
118
$
$

90

$

46
27

$

35
35
35

460
$ 460

$

342
118
35
495
585

1998:
T H IR D QU A R TE R 1 99 8 :

Premium deficiency
Provider costs
Market exit costs
Losses on non-core asset sales
Merger dissolution costs
Non-officer employee incentive and other costs
Total third quarter 1998

$

73

$

$
$

25
25

$

15
12
7

$

34

$

46
27
15
12
7
25
132
41
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19 9 9 EX PE NSE S

Premium Deficiency, Reserve Strengthening and
Provider Costs

As a result of management’s assessment of the profitability
of its contracts for providing health care services to its
members in certain markets, the Company recorded a
provision for probable future losses (premium deficiency)
of $50 million during the first quarter of 1999. Ineffective
provider risk-sharing contracts and the impact of the March
31, 1999 Columbia/HCAHealthcare Corporation
(“Columbia/HCA”) hospital agreement in Florida on
current and projected future medical costs contributed to
the premium deficiency. The beneficial effect from losses
charged to the premium deficiency liability throughout
1999 was $50 million. Because the majority of the
Company’s customers’ contracts renew annually, the
Company does not anticipate the need for a premium
deficiency in 2000, absent unanticipated adverse events or
changes in circumstances.
Prior period adverse claims development primarily in the
Company’s PPO and Medicare products initially identified
during an analysis of February and March 1999 medical
claims resulted in the $35 million reserve strengthening.
The Company releases or strengthens medical claims
reserves when favorable or adverse development in prior
periods exceed actuarial margins existing in the reserves. In
addition, the Company paid Columbia/HCA$5 million to
settle certain contractual issues associated with the March
31, 1999 hospital agreement in Florida.
Long-Lived Asset Impairment

Historical and current period operating losses in certain of
the Company’s markets prompted a review during the
fourth quarter of 1999 for the possible impairment of longlived assets. This review indicated that estimated future
undiscounted cash flows were insufficient to recover the
carrying value of long-lived assets, primarily goodwill,
associated with the Company’s Austin, Dallas and
Milwaukee markets. Accordingly, the Company adjusted
the carrying value of these long-lived assets to their
estimated fair value resulting in a non-cash impairment
charge of $342 million. Estimated fair value was based on
discounted cash flows.
The long-lived assets associated with the Austin and Dallas
markets primarily result from the Company’s 1997
acquisition of Physician Corporation of America (“PCA”).
Operating losses in Austin and Dallas were related to the
deterioration of risk-sharing arrangements with providers
and the failure to effectively convert the PCAoperating
model and computer platform to Humana’s. The long-lived
assets associated with the Milwaukee market primarily
result from the Company’s 1994 acquisition of
CareNetwork, Inc. Operating losses in Milwaukee were the
result of competitor pricing strategies resulting in lower
42

premium levels to large employer groups as well as market
dynamics dominated by limited provider groups causing
higher than expected medical costs.
The Company also re-evaluated the amortization period
of its goodwill and as a result, effective January 1, 2000,
adopted a 20 year amortization period from the date of
acquisition for goodwill previously amortized over
40 years.
The $342 million long-lived asset impairment will decrease
depreciation and amortization expense $13 million annually
($13 million after tax, or $0.08 per diluted share), while the
change in the amortization period of goodwill will increase
amortization expense $25 million annually ($24 million
after tax, or $0.15 per diluted share).
Losses on Non-Core Asset Sales

The Company has entered into definitive agreements for
the disposition of its workers’ compensation, Medicare
supplement and North Florida Medicaid businesses, which
are considered non-core. As a result of the carrying value of
the net assets of these businesses exceeding the estimated
sale proceeds, the Company has recorded a loss of $118
million. Estimated fair value was established based upon
definitive sale agreements, net of expected transaction costs.
These transactions are expected to be completed in the first
and second quarters of 2000. Total assets of $725 million,
primarily consisting of marketable securities and
reinsurance recoverables, and total liabilities of $490
million, primarily consisting of workers’ compensation
reserves related to these businesses are included in the
accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. The
accompanying Consolidated Statements of Operations
include 1999 revenues of $214 million and pretax operating
income of $38 million from these businesses. Included in
1999 and 1998 pretax operating (loss) income is $36 million
and $5 million of workers’ compensation reserve releases
resulting from favorable claim liability development.
Professional Liability Reserve Strengthening and
Other Costs

The Company insures substantially all professional liability
risks through a wholly owned captive insurance subsidiary
(the “Subsidiary”). The Subsidiary recorded an additional
$25 million expense during the fourth quarter of 1999
primarily related to expected claim and legal costs to be
incurred by the Company.
In addition, other expenses of $10 million were recorded
during the fourth quarter related to a claim payment
dispute with a contracted provider and government audits.
Activity related to the 1999 expenses follows:

1999 Activity
(In millions)

1999 Expenses

Premium deficiency
Reserve strengthening
Provider costs
Long-lived asset impairment
Losses on non-core asset sales
Professional liability reserve
strengthening and other costs

$

35
$ 585

19 9 8 EX PE NSE S

Market Exits, Non-Core Asset Sales and Merger
Dissolution Costs

On August 10, 1998, the Company and UnitedHealth Group
Company (“United”) announced their mutual agreement to
terminate the previously announced Agreement and Plan of
Merger, dated May 27, 1998. The planned merger, among
other things, was expected to improve the operating results
of the Company’s products and markets due to overlapping
markets with United. Following the merger’s termination,
the Company conducted a strategic evaluation, which
included assessing the Company’s competitive market
positions and profit potential. As a result, the Company
recognized expenses of $34 million during the third quarter
of 1998. The expenses included costs associated with exiting
five markets ($15 million), losses on disposals of non-core
assets ($12 million) and merger dissolution costs
($7 million).
The costs associated with the market exits of $15 million
included severance, lease termination costs as well as
write-offs of equipment and uncollectible provider
receivables. The planned market exits were Sarasota and
Treasure Coast, Florida, Springfield and Jefferson City,
Missouri and Puerto Rico. Severance costs were estimated
based upon the provisions of the Company’s employee
benefit plans. The plan to exit these markets was expected
to reduce the Company’s market office workforce, primarily
in Puerto Rico, by approximately 470 employees. In 1999,
the Company reversed $2 million of the severance and lease
discontinuance liabilities after the Company contractually
agreed with the Health Insurance Administration in Puerto
Rico to extend the Company’s Medicaid contract, with
more favorable terms. The Company estimated annual
pretax savings of approximately $40 million, after all
market exits were completed by June 30, 1999, primarily
from a reduction in underwriting losses. Approximately
100 employees were ultimately terminated resulting in
insignificant severance payments.

1998
Expenses

(In millions)

Premium deficiency
Provider costs
Market exit costs
Losses from non-core asset sales
Merger dissolution costs
Non-officer employee incentive
and other costs

50
35
5
342
118

$

$

46
27
15
12
7
25
132

Cash

$

$

Balance at
December 31, 1999

(50)
(35)
(5)

(90)

$ (342)
(28)

$

—
—
—
—
90

$ (370)

$

35
125

Premium Deficiency and Provider Costs

As a result of management’s assessment of the profitability
of its contracts for providing health care services to its
members in certain markets, the Company recorded a
provision for probable future losses (premium deficiency)
of $46 million during the third quarter of 1998. The
premium deficiency resulted from events prompted by the
terminated merger with United wherein the Company had
expected to realize improved operating results in those
markets that overlapped with United, including more
favorable risk-sharing arrangements. The beneficial effect
from losses charged to the premium deficiency liability
in 1999 and 1998 was $23 million and $17 million,
respectively. In 1999, the Company reversed $6 million of
premium deficiency liabilities after the Company
contractually agreed with the Health Insurance
Administration in Puerto Rico to extend the Company’s
Medicaid contract, with more favorable terms.
The Company also recorded $27 million of expense related
to receivables written-off from financially troubled
physician groups, including certain bankrupt providers.
Non-Officer Employee Incentive and Other Costs

During the third quarter of 1998, the Company recorded a
one-time incentive of $16 million paid to non-officer
employees and a $9 million settlement related to a third
party pharmacy processing contract.
Activity related to the 1998 expenses follows:

1998 Activity
Non-cash

(17)

Balance at
December 31,
1998

$

(5)
(5)
(25)
(52)

$

Non-Cash

In accordance with the Company’s policy on impairment of
long-lived assets, equipment of $5 million in the exited
markets was written down to its fair value after an
evaluation of undiscounted cash flow in each of the
markets. The fair value of equipment was based upon
discounted cash flows for the same markets. Following the
write-down, the equipment was fully depreciated.

$

$

Cash

$

(27)
(10)
(7)

(44)

$

29

Cash

$

(23)

5

(2)

2

(2)

36

$

(27)

1999 Activity
Adjustment

$

(6)

Balance at
December 31,
1999

$

(2)

$

(8)

$

—
—
1
—
—
—
1
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Deferred income tax balances reflect the impact of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities and their tax bases, and are stated at enacted tax rates expected to be in effect when taxes are actually paid or
recovered. Principal components of the net deferred tax balances for the Company at December 31, 1999 and 1998 are
as follows:

4. MARK ETA BLE SE CUR IT I ES

Marketable securities classified as current assets at December 31, 1999 and 1998 included the following:
1999

(In millions)

U.S. Government obligations
Tax exempt municipal bonds
Corporate bonds
Redeemable preferred stocks
Marketable equity securities
Other

178
889
234
67
96
77
$ 1,541

1998

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Amortized
Cost

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

$

$

$

9

$

9

$

(3)
(24)
(7)
(2)
(6)
(1)
(43)

Fair
Value

$ 175
865
227
65
99
76
$ 1,507

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Amortized
Cost

$

165
845
250
124
129
59
$ 1,572

$

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

4
6
8
1
2
3
24

$

$

(2)

$

(2)

Fair
Value

$ 169
851
258
125
129
62
$ 1,594

Marketable securities classified as long-term assets at December 31, 1999 and 1998 included the following:

1999

(In millions)

U.S. Government obligations
Tax exempt municipal bonds
Redeemable preferred stocks
Marketable equity securities
Other

Amortized
Cost

$

$

16
180
27
10
29
262

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Fair
Value

$

$

(7)
(1)
(1)

$

(9)

16
173
26
9
29
$ 253

Gross
Unrealized
Gains

Amortized
Cost

$

$

5
234
31
2
30
302

Gross
Unrealized
Losses

Fair
Value

$
$

4

$

(1)

$

4

$

(1)

5
237
31
2
30
$ 305

The contractual maturities of debt securities available for sale at December 31, 1999, regardless of their balance sheet
classification, are shown below. Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the
right to call or prepay obligations with or without call or prepayment penalties.
Amortized
Cost

(In millions)

Due within one year
Due after one year through five years
Due after five years through ten years
Due after ten years
Not due at a single maturity date

1999

Marketable securities
Long-term assets
Medical and other expenses payable
Asset write-downs and operational expenses
Professional liability risks
Net operating loss carryforwards
Workers’ compensation liabilities
Compensation and other accruals

$

$

1998
Gross
Unrealized
Losses

(In millions)

$

209
499
384
210
395
$ 1,697

Fair
Value

$ 207
490
370
204
381
$ 1,652

Gross realized investment gains were $18 million, $30 million and $11 million and gross realized investment losses were
$7 million, $9 million and $1 million in 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.

Assets (Liabilities)
1998

18
(55)
95
36
9
58
25
29
215

$

$

(8)
(46)
95
16
7
58
40
31
193

At December 31, 1999, the Company has available tax net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $150 million related
to prior acquisitions. These loss carryforwards, if unused to offset future taxable income, will expire in 2000 through 2011.
Based on the Company’s historical taxable income record and estimates of future profitability, management has concluded
that operating income will more likely than not be sufficient to give rise to tax expense to recover all deferred tax assets.

6. DE BT

The Company maintains a revolving credit agreement (“Credit Agreement”) which provides a line of credit of up to $1.0
billion and expires in August 2002. Principal amounts outstanding under the Credit Agreement bear interest at either a fixed
rate or a floating rate, ranging from LIBOR plus 35 basis points to LIBOR plus 80 basis points, depending on the Company’s
credit ratings. The Credit Agreement, which was amended in 1999 to reduce the line of credit by $500 million from $1.5
billion and modify certain covenants, contains customary covenants and events of default including, but not limited to,
financial tests for interest coverage and leverage. The Company is in compliance with all covenants. The Company also
maintains and issues short-term debt securities under a commercial paper program. The carrying value of commercial paper
approximates fair value due to its short-term maturity.
Borrowings and the weighted average interest rate on those borrowings at December 31, 1999 and 1998 are as follows:

(In millions)

Credit agreement
Commercial paper program

5. IN COM E TA X E S

Amount

$
$

686
686

1999
Weighted Average
Interest Rate

5.7%
5.6%

Amount

$
$

93
730
823

1998
Weighted Average
Interest Rate

5.9%
5.9%

The (benefit) provision for income taxes consisted of the following:
(In millions)

Current (benefit) provision:
Federal
State

1999

Years Ended December 31,
1998

1997

$

Deferred provision:
Federal
State
$

(18)
(9)
(27)
4
1
5
(22)

$

$

39
9
48
24
2
26
74

$

$

51
6
57
36
4
40
97

The (benefit) provision for income taxes was different from the amount computed using the federal statutory rate due to
the following:
(In millions)

44

Income tax (benefit) provision at federal statutory rate
State income taxes, net of federal benefit
Tax exempt investment income
Amortization
Long-lived asset impairment
Other

7. PROF ES SIO NA L LIA BI LI T Y AN D OT HER OB LI GAT I O N S

The components of professional liability and other obligations at December 31, 1999 and 1998 are as follows:

1999

$ (142)
(16)
(19)
11
143
1
$ (22)

Years Ended December 31,
1998

$

$

71
8
(18)
17
(4)
74

1997

$

$

95
10
(13)
10
(5)
97

(In millions)

1999

Allowance for professional liabilities
Liabilities for disability and other long-term insurance products, the Company’s retirement and benefit plans and other
Less: current portion of allowance for professional liabilities

The Company insures substantially all professional
liability risks through a wholly owned subsidiary (the
“Subsidiary”). Provisions for such risks, including expenses
incident to claim settlements, were $57 million, $27 million
and $32 million for the years ended December 31, 1999,
1998 and 1997, respectively. The amount for 1999 includes
$25 million of professional liability reserve strengthening
discussed in Note 3. The Subsidiary reinsures levels of
coverage for losses in excess of its retained limits with
unrelated insurance carriers. Reinsurance recoverables were
$29 million and $40 million at December 31, 1999 and 1998,
respectively. The current portion of allowance for

$

133
44
(33)
$ 144

1998

$

$

123
53
(22)
154

professional liabilities is included with trade accounts
payable and accrued expenses in the Consolidated
Balance Sheets.
In 1998, the Subsidiary entered into a loss portfolio
transfer agreement with unrelated insurance carriers for
approximately $39 million, providing for the transfer of all
professional and workers’ compensation liabilities on
claims incurred prior to December 31, 1997 limited to
individual and maximum claim retention levels.
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8. EMPL OY EE B ENE FI T P LA NS

Employee Savings Plan

The Company has defined contribution retirement and
savings plans covering qualified employees. The
Company’s contribution to these plans are based on various
percentages of compensation, and in some instances, are
based upon the amount of the employees’ contributions to
the plans. The cost of these plans amounted to
approximately $27 million, $40 million and $24 million in
1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively, the substantial portion of
which was funded currently. The amount for 1998 includes
the $16 million one-time incentive paid to non-officer
employees discussed in Note 3.
Stock Based Compensation

The Company has plans under which restricted stock
awards and options to purchase common stock have been
granted to officers, directors and key employees. In 1998,
the Company awarded 400,000 shares of performancebased restricted stock to officers and key employees.
The shares had the potential to vest in equal one-third
installments beginning January 1, 2000, provided the
Company met certain earnings goals. As the goal was not
met for 1999, and the awards are cumulative, two-thirds
has the potential to vest in 2000 and one-third in 2001.
Unearned compensation under the restricted stock awards

plan is amortized over the vesting period. Compensation
expense recognized related to the restricted stock award
plans was $2 million for each of the years ended December
31, 1999 and 1998 and $1 million for the year ended
December 31, 1997.
Options are granted at the average market price on the date
of grant. Exercise provisions vary, but most options vest in
whole or in part one to five years after grant and expire ten
years after grant. At December 31, 1999, there were
13,977,221 shares reserved for employee and director stock
option plans. At December 31, 1999, there were 2,658,040
shares of common stock available for future grants.
On September 17, 1998, the Company repriced 5,503,491 of
its stock options with original exercise prices ranging from
$18.31 to $26.31 to the market price of the Company’s
common stock on that date of $15.59. Outstanding stock
options with an exercise price in excess of $18.13 per share
could be exchanged in return for a reduced number of
options, with a deferred vesting date of one year after the
exchange date. The repricing resulted in the cancellation of
5,503,491 options and the granting of 4,559,438 options.
The Company’s option plan activity for the years ended
December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 is summarized below:

Shares
Under Option

Balance, January 1, 1997
Granted
Exercised
Canceled or lapsed
Balance, December 31, 1997
Granted
Exercised
Canceled or lapsed
Balance, December 31, 1998
Granted
Exercised
Canceled or lapsed
Balance, December 31, 1999

Exercise Price
Per Share

10,921,887
2,819,000
(1,247,793)
(270,830)
12,222,264
6,403,788
(3,067,202)
(6,753,198)
8,805,652
3,966,750
(105,232)
(1,347,989)
11,319,181

$

4.32
18.31
4.32
6.56
5.80
15.59
5.80
6.56
6.56
6.88
6.56
8.00
$ 6.56

to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to
to

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

$ 26.94
23.69
23.06
23.06
26.94
26.22
26.31
26.31
26.94
19.25
8.91
26.31
$ 26.94

$ 13.71
19.79
8.67
17.32
15.54
17.04
11.72
20.03
14.52
14.16
16.75
18.32
$ 14.00

$

6.56
10.54
14.44
18.72
22.44
$ 6.56
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to
to
to
to
to
to

$ 9.64
13.31
17.94
21.94
26.94
$ 26.94

Shares

3,820,428
225,200
4,530,671
2,518,082
224,800
11,319,181

Stock Options Outstanding
Weighted Average
Remaining Contractual Life

6.5 years
6.2 years
6.3 years
7.1 years
5.3 years
6.5 years

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

$

8.05
11.89
15.69
19.32
23.48
$ 14.00

(In millions, except per share results)

Net (loss) income
(Loss) earnings per common share
(Loss) earnings per common share —
assuming dilution

1999

As reported
Pro forma
As reported
Pro forma
As reported
Pro forma

$ (382)
(402)
$ (2.28)
(2.40)
$ (2.28)
(2.40)

Years Ended December 31,
1998

$

129
116
$ 0.77
0.69
$ 0.77
0.69

1997

$

173
159
$ 1.06
0.97
$ 1.05
0.96

The fair value of each option granted during 1999, 1998 and 1997 was estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
pricing model with the following weighted average assumptions:

Dividend yield
Expected volatility
Risk-free interest rate
Expected option life (years)
Weighted average fair value at grant date

1999

1998

1997

None
43.8%
5.6%
8.3
$ 8.10

None
40.9%
4.9%
6.8
$ 8.59

None
38.5%
6.1%
5.4
$ 8.88

The effects of applying SFAS 123 in the pro forma disclosures are not likely to be representative of the effects on pro forma
net income for future years since variables such as option grants, exercises and stock price volatility included in the
disclosures may not be indicative of future activity.

9. ST OCK HOL DERS ’ EQ U ITY

The Company adopted a stockholders’ rights plan designed to deter takeover initiatives not considered to be in the best
interests of the Company’s stockholders. The rights are redeemable by action of the Company’s Board of Directors at a price
of $0.01 per right at any time prior to their becoming exercisable. Pursuant to the plan, under certain conditions, each share
of stock has a right to acquire 1/100th of a share of Series A Participating Preferred Stock at a price of $145 per share.
The plan expires in 2006.

10 . COM MIT M ENT S AND CON TI NGE NCIE S

Leases

The Company leases facilities, computer hardware and other equipment under long-term operating leases that are
noncancelable and expire on various dates through 2017. Rent expense and sublease income for all operating leases are
as follows:

A summary of stock options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 1999 follows:

Range of Exercise Prices

As of December 31, 1998 and 1997, there were 3,636,481 and 6,215,776 options exercisable, respectively. The weighted average
exercise price of options exercisable during 1998 and 1997 was $12.32 and $13.32, respectively. If the Company had adopted
the expense recognition provisions of SFAS 123 for purposes of determining compensation expense related to stock options
granted during the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, net (loss) income and (loss) earnings per common share
would have been changed to the pro forma amounts shown below:

Shares

Stock Options Exercisable
Weighted Average
Exercise Price

1,914,178
89,700
3,268,920
811,761
202,267
6,286,826

$ 6.95
10.86
15.73
19.41
23.53
$ 13.71

(In millions)

Rent expense
Sublease rental income
Net rent expense

1999

$
$

61
(25)
36

Years Ended December 31,
1998

$
$

42
(9)
33

1997

$
$

31
(3)
28
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Future annual minimum payments under all noncancelable
operating leases in excess of one year subsequent to
December 31, 1999 are as follows:
(In millions)

2000
2001
2002
2003
2004
Thereafter
Total minimum lease payments
Less: minimum sublease rental income
Net minimum lease payments

$

54
46
31
26
22
62
$ 241
(112)
$ 129

members the existence of direct financial incentives to
treating physicians and other health care providers to deny
coverage. The complaints, generally, do not allege that any
member was denied coverage for services that should have
been covered but, instead, claim that Humana provided
health insurance benefits of lesser value than promised.
All seek money damages of unspecified amounts. The
Company has requested to consolidate these complaints to
a single court.
The Company believes the allegations in all of the above
complaints are without merit and intends to pursue the
defense of the actions vigorously.

Government and Other Contracts

The Company’s Medicare HMO contracts with the federal
government are renewed for a one-year term each
December 31, unless terminated 90 days prior thereto.
Legislative proposals are being considered which may
revise the Medicare program’s current support of the use of
managed health care for Medicare beneficiaries and future
reimbursement rates thereunder. Management is unable to
predict the outcome of these proposals or the impact they
may have on the Company’s financial position, results of
operations or cash flows. The Company’s Medicaid contracts are generally annual contracts with various states
except for the two-year contract with the Health Insurance
Administration in Puerto Rico. Additionally, the Company’s
TRICARE contract is a one-year contract renewable on July
1, 2000, for one additional year. The loss of these contracts
or significant changes in these programs as a result of
legislative action, including reductions in payments or
increases in benefits without corresponding increases in
payments, would have a material adverse effect on the
revenues, profitability and business prospects of the
Company. In addition, the Company continually contracts
and seeks to renew contracts with providers at rates
designed to ensure adequate profitability. To the extent the
Company is unable to obtain such rates, its financial
position, results of operations and cash flows could be
adversely impacted.
Legal Proceedings

During 1999, six purported class action complaints have
been filed against the Company and certain of its current
and former directors and officers claiming that the
Company and the individual defendants knowingly or
recklessly made false or misleading statements in press
releases and public filings concerning the Company’s
financial condition. All seek money damages of
unspecified amounts.
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Since October 1999, the Company has received purported
class action complaints alleging, among other things, that
Humana intentionally concealed from its members
information concerning the various ways Humana decides
what claims will be paid, what procedures will be deemed
medically necessary, and what criteria and procedures are
used to determine the extent and type of their coverage.
The complaints also allege that Humana concealed from

On January 4, 2000, a jury in Palm Beach County, Florida,
issued a verdict against Humana Health Insurance
Company of Florida, Inc., awarding $79 million to Mark
Chipps, an insured who had sued individually and on
behalf of his minor daughter. The claim arose from the
removal of the child from a case management program
which had provided her with benefits in excess of those
available under her policy. The award included $78 million
for punitive damages, $1 million for emotional distress and
$28,000 for contractual benefits. The Company is in the
process of appealing the verdict.
During 1999, the Company reached an agreement in
principle with the United States Department of Justice and
the Department of Health and Human Services on a $15
million settlement relating to Medicare premium
overpayments. The settlement is expected to be paid
sometime during 2000. The Company had previously
established adequate liabilities for the resolution of these
issues and, therefore, the settlement did not have a material
impact on the Company’s financial position or results
of operations.
Damages for claims for personal injuries and medical
benefit denials are usual in the Company’s business.
Personal injury and medical benefit denial claims are
covered by insurance from the Company’s wholly owned
captive insurance Subsidiary and excess carriers, except to
the extent that claimants seek punitive damages, in states
which prohibit insurable coverage for punitive damages.
In connection with the Chipps case, the excess carriers have
preliminarily indicated that they believe no coverage may
be available for a punitive damages award.
During the ordinary course of its business, the Company is
or may become subject to pending or threatened litigation
or other legal actions. Management does not believe that
any pending and threatened legal actions against the
Company or audits by agencies will have a material
adverse effect on the Company’s financial position or
results of operations.

11 . ACQU I SITIO N S AND DIS PO SIT IO NS

Between December 30, 1999 and February 4, 2000, the
Company entered into definitive agreements to sell its
workers’ compensation, Medicare supplement and North
Florida Medicaid businesses for proceeds of approximately
$115 million. The Company recorded a $118 million loss in
1999 related to these sale transactions.
On January 31, 2000, the Company acquired the Memorial
Sisters of Charity Health Network (“MSCHN”), a Houston
based health plan for approximately $50 million in cash.
On June 1, 1999, the Company reached an agreement with
FPA Medical Management, Inc. (“FPA”), FPA’s lenders and
a federal bankruptcy court under which the Company
acquired the operations of 50 medical centers from FPA for
approximately $14 million in cash. The Company has
subsequently reached agreements with 14 provider groups
to assume operating responsibility for 38 of the 50 acquired
FPA medical centers under long-term provider agreements
with the Company.
On October 17, 1997, the Company acquired ChoiceCare
Corporation (“ChoiceCare”) for approximately $250 million
in cash. The purchase was funded with borrowings under
the Company’s commercial paper program. ChoiceCare
provided health services products to members in the
Greater Cincinnati, Ohio, area.
On September 8, 1997, the Company acquired PCAfor total
consideration of $411 million in cash, consisting primarily
of $7 per share for PCA’s outstanding common stock and
the assumption of $121 million in debt. The purchase was
funded with borrowings under the Company’s commercial
paper program. PCAprovided comprehensive health
services through its HMOs in Florida, Texas and Puerto
Rico. In addition, PCAprovided workers’ compensation
third-party administrative management services. Prior to
November 1996, PCAalso was a direct writer of workers’
compensation insurance in Florida. Long-term medical and
other expenses payable in the accompanying Consolidated
Balance Sheets includes the long-term portion of workers’
compensation liabilities related to this business.
On February 28, 1997, the Company acquired Health Direct,
Inc. (“Health Direct”) from Advocate Health Care for
approximately $23 million in cash.
The above acquisitions were accounted for under the
purchase method of accounting. In connection with these
acquisitions, the Company allocated the acquisition costs to
net tangible and identifiable intangible assets based upon
their fair values. Identifiable intangible assets, which are
included in other long-term assets in the accompanying
Consolidated Balance Sheets, primarily relate to subscriber
and provider contracts. Any remaining value not assigned
to net tangible or identifiable intangible assets was then
allocated to cost in excess of net assets acquired, or
goodwill. Goodwill and identifiable intangible assets
acquired, recorded in connection with the acquisitions, was
$17 million and $754 million in 1999 and 1997, respectively.

Subscriber and provider contracts are amortized over their
estimated useful lives (seven to 14 years), while goodwill
has been amortized over periods from six to 40 years. After
a re-evaluation, effective January 1, 2000, the Company
adopted a 20 year amortization period from the date of
acquisition for goodwill previously amortized over
40 years.
The results of operations for the previously mentioned
acquisitions have been included in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Operations since the date of
acquisition. The following unaudited pro forma data
summarize the consolidated results of operations for the
year ended December 31, 1997 as if the 1997 acquisitions
referred to above had been completed as of the beginning
of 1997:
(In millions, except per share results)

Revenues
Net income
Earnings per common share
Earnings per common share — assuming dilution

$ 9,272
64
$ 0.39
0.39

The unaudited pro forma information above may not
necessarily reflect future results of operations or what the
results of operations would have been had the acquisitions
actually been consummated at the beginning of 1997.

12 . S EGM EN T I N FO RMAT I O N

During 1999, the Company realigned its organization to
achieve greater accountability in its lines of business. As a
result of this realignment, the Company organized into two
business units: the Health Plan segment and the Small
Group segment. The Health Plan segment includes the
Company’s large group commercial (100 employees and
over), Medicare, Medicaid, ASO, workers’ compensation
and military or TRICARE business. The small group
segment includes small group commercial (under 100
employees) and specialty benefit lines, including dental, life
and short-term disability. Results of each segment are
measured based upon results of operations before income
taxes. The Company does not allocate assets to the
segments, but allocates administrative expenses, interest
income and interest expense to the segments. These
allocations are based on systematic and rational methods
which consider the nature of activities and volume of
business associated with the segments’ products. Members
served by the two segments generally utilize the same
medical provider networks, enabling the Company to
obtain more favorable contract terms with providers. As a
result, the profitability of each segment is somewhat
interdependent. In addition, premium revenue pricing to
large group commercial employers has historically been
more competitive than that to small group commercial
employers, resulting in less favorable underwriting margins
for the large group commercial line of business. Costs to
distribute and administer products to small group
commercial employers are higher compared to large group
commercial employers resulting in small group’s higher
administrative expense ratio. The accounting policies of
each segment are similar and are described in Note 2.
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The segment results for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997 are as follows:

(In millions)

Health Plan

Small Group

Revenues:
Premiums
Interest and other income
Total revenues
Underwriting margin
Depreciation and amortization
Loss before income taxes

$ 6,827
106
6,933
861
70
(369)

$ 3,132
48
3,180
566
54
(35)

(In millions)

Health Plan

Small Group

H
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1999

R E P O RT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTA N T S
$ 9,959
154
10,113
1,427
124
(404)

Total

1998

Revenues:
Premiums
Interest and other income
Total revenues
Underwriting margin
Depreciation and amortization
Income (loss) before income taxes

$ 6,734
140
6,874
988
76
208

(In millions)

Health Plan

$ 2,863
44
2,907
568
52
(5)

$ 9,597
184
9,781
1,556
128
203

Small Group

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Humana Inc.
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and the related consolidated statements of operations,
stockholders' equity and cash flows present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Humana Inc.
and its subsidiaries at December 31, 1999 and 1998, and the results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 1999, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.
These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management; our responsibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits. We conducted our audits of these statements in accordance with auditing
standards generally accepted in the United States, which require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting principles used
and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that
our audits provide a reasonable basis for the opinion expressed above.

Total

1997

Revenues:
Premiums
Interest and other income
Total revenues
Underwriting margin
Depreciation and amortization
Income before income taxes

$ 5,487
115
5,602
864
64
244

$ 2,393
41
2,434
494
44
26

$ 7,880
156
8,036
1,358
108
270

Louisville, Kentucky
February 9, 2000

As previously discussed, during 1999 and 1998, the Company recorded pretax expenses of $585 million and $132 million,
respectively. The following table details the reduction on operating results from these expenses for the Health Plan and Small
Group segments for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998:

(In millions)

Health Plan

Underwriting margin
Income before income taxes

$ 66
$ 553

1999
Small Group

$
$

24
32

Total

$ 90
$ 585

Health Plan

$
$

60
96

1998
Small Group

$
$

13
36

Total

$
$

73
132

The Company’s product offerings include managed health care products and specialty products. Managed health care
product premiums were approximately $9.7 billion, $9.4 billion and $7.7 billion for the years ended December 31, 1999, 1998
and 1997, respectively. Specialty product premiums were approximately $277 million, $239 million, and $230 million for the
years ended December 31, 1999, 1998 and 1997, respectively.
Premium revenues derived from contracts with the federal government in 1999, 1998 and 1997 represent approximately
40 percent, 41 percent and 43 percent, respectively, of total premium revenues.
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A summary of the Company’s quarterly unaudited results of operations for the years ended December 31, 1999 and 1998 follows:
(In millions, except per share results)

1999
First (a)

Revenues
(Loss) income before income taxes
Net (loss) income
(Loss) earnings per common share
(Loss) earnings per common share —
assuming dilution

$

2,477
(25)
(16)
(0.10)

Second

$

(0.10)

2,505
44
28
0.17

Third

$

0.17

2,557
34
22
0.13

K. Frank Austen, M.D.

John R. Hall

Irwin Lerner

Theodore B. Bayles Professor of
Medicine, Harvard Medical School
and the Brigham and Women’s
Hospital

Retired Chairman of the Board
and Chief Executive Officer,
Ashland Inc.

Retired Chairman of the Board
and of the Executive Committee,
Hoffmann-LaRoche Inc.

David A. Jones

Michael B. McCallister

Chairman of the Board, Humana Inc.

President and Chief Executive Officer,
Humana Inc.

Fourth (b)

$

2,574
(457)
(416)
(2.48)

0.13

(2.48)
Michael E. Gellert

(In millions, except per share results)

1998
First

Revenues
Income (loss) before income taxes
Net income (loss)
Earnings (loss) per common share
Earnings (loss) per common share —
assuming dilution

$

2,402
79
50
0.30
0.30

Second

$

2,446
82
52
0.31
0.31

Third (c)

$

2,464
(47)
(30)
(0.18)

Fourth

$

2,469
89
57
0.34

(0.18)

General Partner, Windcrest Partners,
private investment partnership
David A. Jones, Jr.
Vice Chairman, Humana Inc.
Chairman and Managing Director,
Chrysalis Ventures, L.L.C.
venture capital firm

0.34

W. Ann Reynolds, Ph.D.
President, University of Alabama at
Birmingham

(a) Includes expenses of $90 million pretax ($58 million after tax, or $0.34 per diluted share) primarily related to premium deficiency and medical re s e rve stre n g t h e n i n g .
(b) Includes expenses of $495 million pretax ($441 after tax, or $2.63 per diluted share) primarily related to goodwill write-down, losses on non-core asset sales and professional liability
(c) re s e rve stre n g t h e n i n g .
(c) Includes expenses of $132 million ($84 million after tax, or $0.50 per diluted share) primarily related to the costs of certain market exits and product discontinuances, asset write-downs,
(c) p remium deficiency and a one-time non-officer employee incentive.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Executive Committee

Audit Committee

Investment Committee

David A. Jones, Chairman
Michael E. Gellert
David A. Jones, Jr.
Michael B. McCallister

Michael E. Gellert, Chairman
K. Frank Austen, M.D.
John R. Hall
Irwin Lerner

W. Ann Reynolds, Ph.D., Chairwoman
K. Frank Austen, M.D.
Michael E. Gellert
David A. Jones, Jr.

Medical Affairs Committee

Nominating and Corporate
Governance Committee

Organization and Compensation
Committee

John R. Hall, Chairman
David A. Jones, Jr.
W. Ann Reynolds, Ph.D.

Irwin Lerner, Chairman
K. Frank Austen, M.D.
Michael E. Gellert
John R. Hall

K. Frank Austen, M.D., Chairman
Irwin Lerner
W. Ann Reynolds, Ph.D.

52

53

H

U

M

A

N

SENIOR OFFICERS

Michael B. McCallister
President and Chief Executive Officer

A

I

N

C

.

H

U

M

A

N

A

I

N

C

.

ADDITIONAL INFORMAT I O N

Kenneth J. Fasola
Chief Operating Officer —
Small Group Division

Heidi S. Margulis
Senior Vice President —
Government Affairs

James E. Murray
Chief Operating Officer —
Health Plan Division
and Chief Financial Officer

Sheri E. Mitchell
Senior Vice President and
Chief Compliance Officer

Douglas R. Carlisle
Senior Vice President —
Market Operations
Bruce J. Goodman
Senior Vice President and
Chief Information Officer
Bonita C. Hathcock
Senior Vice President —
Human Resources

Thomas T. Noland, Jr.
Senior Vice President —
Corporate Communications

T RAN SFE R A GENT

C O R P O R ATE HE AD QUAR T E R S

National City Bank
Stock Transfer Department
Post Office Box 92301
Cleveland, Ohio 44193-0900
(800) 622-6757

Humana Inc.
The Humana Building
500 West Main Street
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
(502) 580-1000

F ORM 1 0-K

IND EPE NDE NT AC COUN TA N T S

Copies of the Company’s Form 10-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission may be obtained,
without charge, by writing:

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Louisville, Kentucky

Bruce D. Perkins
Senior Vice President —
National Networks
George W. Vieth, Jr.
Senior Vice President —
Large Group Commercial

Investor Relations
Humana Inc.
Post Office Box 1438
Louisville, Kentucky 40201-1438

AN NUA L M EE TING

The Company’s Annual Meeting of Stockholders will be
held on Thursday, May 18, 2000, at 10:00 a.m. EDT in the
Auditorium on the 25th floor of the Humana Building.

Copies of the Company’s Form 10-K and other Company
information can also be obtained through the Internet at the
following address:

Arthur P. Hipwell
Senior Vice President and
General Counsel

http://www.humana.com

S TOCK LI S TING

The Company’s common stock trades on the New York
Stock Exchange under the symbol HUM. The following
table shows the range of high and low closing sales prices
as reported on the New York Stock Exchange
Composite Tape:
1999

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

1998

First Quarter
Second Quarter
Third Quarter
Fourth Quarter

54

High

Low

20-3/4
16-7/16
13-1/8
8-1/4

16-15/16
11
6-7/8
5-7/8

High

26-3/8
31-11/16
31-7/8
21-9/16

Low

19-1/2
24-15/16
12-7/8
14-3/8
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The Humana Building
500 West Main Street
Louisville, Kentucky 40202
502.580.1000
www.humana.com

